Copyright

by

Cheryl Lorraine Harris

2003

The Dissertation Committee for Cheryl Lorraine Harris certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

Understanding the Role of Epistemological Beliefs in Post-Graduate Studies: Motivation and Conceptions of Learning in First-Year Law Students

| Committee: |
|--------------------------------|
| |
| Diane L. Schallert, Supervisor |
| , I |
| Davida H. Charney |
| |
| JoyLynn H. Reed |
| |
| Marilla D. Svinicki |
| |
| Frank W. Wicker |

Understanding the Role of Epistemological Beliefs in Post-Graduate Studies: Motivation and Conceptions of Learning in First-Year Law Students

by

Cheryl Lorraine Harris, B.S.

Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of
the University of Texas at Austin
in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements
for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Texas at Austin
May, 2003

Acknowledgements

With a grateful heart I express my thanks specifically to a number of people, with appreciation to many others who encouraged me to pursue this goal.

My first thanks goes to the members of my dissertation committee, Davida Charney, Marilla Svinicki, Frank Wicker, and JoyLynn Reed, for their advice and support. I am grateful especially for my chair and advisor, Diane Schallert. Thanks, Diane, for patiently standing with me and always being glad to see me when I came by. You are an incredible person, a quintessential teacher, advisor, and professor. I learned a lot from you and look forward to continuing to do so!

Special thanks to my family: Mom, Alton, David, Erica, Olivia, and the newest Harris on the way. I guess one of the most amazing things we have in common is a love of reading and an appreciation for the challenge of learning. I am very happy that you lead by example in your pursuit of excellence in scholarship and achievement. Here's to you, all the family who have gone on before us, and those to come! May we always be blessed in the knowing and doing of His good will.

To Jeannine Turner and Ralph Waugh who are much more than just my Longhorn basketball and football buddies. Jeannine, you who are a natural mentor to so many, envision more possibilities for me than I ever do for myself. Thanks for sticking with me and pointing me in the right direction until I could see it too! Your friendship is amazing, it has some "oomph" to it! You are the only one who I let razz me until I finished this project. Thanks for the razzing which I will always treasure. Ralph, your incredible

journey to Ph.D. inspired me. Thank you both for the blessing of sharing your lives, sharp minds and wit, and dedicated friendship. Go Horns!

Special thanks goes to Carol, Jeff, Jacqueline, Grace, Adam, and Holly Goswick, my family of friends in West Virginia. Carol, my sister and friend, you are one of the wisest people I know. Thanks for believing, praying, and cheering me to the finish!

To Chris Sproull, my spiritual twin brother and friend. I am overwhelmed and eternally grateful for the depth of your friendship and the bond of kinship we share. You have always given of yourself which is nowhere more apparent than in the way you share the special people in your life with me. To you and your family, Bonnie and Renée, and our friends Mama Jo, Joey, Wendy and Margie, thanks for the deep fellowship of the spirit we share which has sustained, comforted, and graced my life so many times over the years.

To Fred and Barbara Murphy and family. Fred, you delight me to no end with your enthusiastic friendship and your generous, giving heart. I look up to you in many ways as you continually grow in the Lord. Barbara, I smile as I think back on the many early mornings we drove to campus, a precious time together. Thanks to all of you for the great variety of special moments and events we shared through the years.

Maria Lissi, I won't forget the many happy events, courses, conference and so much more we experienced through our graduate school years. I'm delighted you have a career, home, and family in Chile, but I miss seeing you.

Dyna Lang and Beryl Southall thanks for the special teas and sharing your friendship, families, faith, hospitality, and many special moments over the years.

Patrick, Polly, Dillon, Abigail and Morgan Robinette, a precious family that always made me feel welcomed as a valued friend, thanks for the many afternoons and evenings when the kids watched and played with me over the years.

Sue Batchelor and Marlene Lema I'm amazed at 10 + years of quarterly lunches, pie explorations, and other adventures and look forward to many more! I wish you both the best in your future writing endeavors.

Diane Thompson and Sue Robbins who, among many other things, helped me when I was sick, thanks for wonderful years of work together and being such excellent examples of godly women.

Sharron Ingram, Judy Pittsford, and Bob Morris I am honored to share our gifts of teaching and am always thrilled at the many wonderful moments in 5th or 6th grade Sunday School with you.

To my friends who I do not often see: Lori and Drew; Angie, George and kids; Meliss and Robert; and Neesha; I am thankful for you and the part of life you shared with me.

I also appreciate my coworkers and the professors I worked with at the law school and my SEDL Evaluation Services colleagues for making room in your lives to fill in the gap for me in numerous ways while I completed my studies. Thanks for your help and encouragement.

And finally, I am grateful for Nagi, TJ, and Topaz with whom I enjoyed many moments of companionship and laughter, and who helped me endure until this journey was completed.

Understanding the Role of Epistemological Beliefs in Post-Graduate Studies:

Motivation and Conceptions of Learning in First-Year Law Students

| Publication | No. |
|--------------------|-----|
|--------------------|-----|

Cheryl Lorraine Harris, Ph.D.

The University of Texas at Austin, 2003

Supervisor: Diane L. Schallert

The complexity of legal education provides an interesting backdrop for examining students' conceptions about learning, including their epistemological beliefs about learning and instruction. Students typically are categorized as more or less sophisticated in their beliefs about the simplicity and certainty of knowledge, the control and speed of learning, and the source of knowledge. Research has described students' epistemological development either as unidimensional and occurring in sequential stages or as multidimensional and represented as a system of dimensions. In the latter view, beliefs are independent, meaning students can be sophisticated in one belief and less sophisticated in another, and, because of the asynchronous nature of beliefs, can simultaneously hold opposing beliefs of the same dimension. Yet, epistemological beliefs researchers do not often consider how students' asynchronous epistemological beliefs, even their less sophisticated ones, are used in productive ways. This study examined these issues with first-year law students, chosen because they represent learners who have

demonstrated prior academic success and yet are now novices in a complex and highly competitive learning environment.

Fifty-eight first-year law students completed surveys of epistemological beliefs (5 dimensions), motivations (intrinsic and extrinsic goal orientations, self-efficacy, and effort management), approaches to learning (surface, deep, and achievement orientations), and need for cognition (students' preference for engaging in complex cognitive tasks).

Results demonstrated that first-year law students varied within the upper half of the total epistemological beliefs scale and ranged from less relativistic to more relativistic. A cluster analysis was performed and resulted in a three-cluster solution with significant multivariate differences between cluster groups broadly described as less, moderate, and more relativistic. Significant differences between cluster groups in their ratings of extrinsic motivation, surface approaches to learning, achievement motivation, and need for cognition were found.

A more detailed understanding of law students' conceptions of their learning experiences was obtained by interviewing three students, one from each of the cluster groups, near the completion of their final year of law school. Interviews supported the idea that while students varied in their epistemological beliefs, they had all successfully made use of their more and less sophisticated beliefs to accomplish their learning goals.

Table of Contents

| List of Tables | xiii |
|--|------|
| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| Legal Education and Student Cognition and Learning | 3 |
| Epistemological Beliefs | 8 |
| Motivation and Approaches to Learning | 13 |
| Purpose of this Study | 15 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 17 |
| The Law School Context and Students' Learning | 18 |
| Students' Responses to the Instructional Environment | 19 |
| Students' Responses to Instructional Method | 21 |
| Cognitive Tasks | 23 |
| Complexity of Law-Related Information | 24 |
| The Nature of Students' Beliefs About Learning | 26 |
| The Structural Features of Beliefs | 28 |
| Existential presumptions. | 29 |
| Idealized realities | 29 |
| Affective and evaluative quality | 30 |
| Episodic memory | 30 |
| Nonconsensuality | 31 |
| Unboundedness | 31 |
| Other features | 31 |

| Epistemological Beliefs About Learning | 33 |
|--|----|
| The cognitive-developmentalist perspective of epistemological beliefs research | 34 |
| The cognitive perspective of epistemological beliefs research | 37 |
| The contextual perspective of epistemological beliefs research | 39 |
| Epistemological styles | 40 |
| Summary of epistemological beliefs theories | 40 |
| Motivational Aspects of Learning | 42 |
| Goal Orientations | 43 |
| Extrinsic goals | 43 |
| Intrinsic goals | 43 |
| Self-Efficacy | 44 |
| Effort Management | 45 |
| Need for Cognition | 47 |
| Learning-Related Conceptions | 49 |
| Orientations to Learning | 50 |
| Approaches to Learning | 51 |
| Importance of Conceptions of Learning Research | 53 |
| Synthesis | 55 |
| Chapter 3: Methods | 57 |
| Participants | 57 |
| Data Collection Materials | 59 |
| Epistemological beliefs | 60 |

| Motivation for learning. | 61 |
|--|----|
| Approaches to learning. | 63 |
| Need for cognition | 64 |
| Interview Format and Participants | 65 |
| CHAPTER 4: RESULTS | 68 |
| Quantitative Analyses | 68 |
| Descriptive Analysis of First-Year Law Students' Survey Responses | 68 |
| Epistemological beliefs | 69 |
| Motivation, approaches to learning, and need for cognition. | 72 |
| Correlational Analysis | 73 |
| Epistemological beliefs subscales. | 73 |
| Motivation subscales. | 75 |
| Assumptions about learning inventory subscales | 75 |
| Correlations across surveys: epistemological beliefs and motivation | 76 |
| Correlations across surveys: motivation, approaches to learning, need for cognition, and grades . | 77 |
| Correlations across surveys: approaches to learning, need for cognition and course grades. | 79 |
| Correlations across surveys: epistemological beliefs, motivation, approaches to learning, need for cognition, and course grades. | 79 |
| Cluster Analysis | 81 |
| Qualitative Description | 86 |
| Interviews of Students Representing Each Cluster | 86 |

| Mary – Cluster Group 1, Less Relativistic | 89 |
|---|-----|
| Robin – Cluster Group 2, Moderately Relativistic | 92 |
| Charles – Cluster Group 3, More Relativistic | 95 |
| CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION | 99 |
| Description of Law Students' Epistemological Beliefs | 99 |
| Relationships Among Beliefs, Approaches to Learning, and Motivation | 100 |
| Law Students' Conceptions of their Law School Experience | 103 |
| Limitations | 107 |
| Implications of this Study for Teaching and Learning | 109 |
| Future Research Directions | 111 |
| Conclusion | 113 |
| Appendices | 115 |
| References | 126 |
| Vita | 137 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: | Law Student Participants | 59 |
|-----------|--|----|
| Table 2: | Summary of Scales and Sample Items for Epistemological Beliefs Questionnaire Items | 61 |
| Table 3: | Summary of Scales and Sample Items for Motivation Questionnaire Items | 63 |
| Table 4: | Summary of Scales and Sample Items for the Approaches to Learning Questionnaire Items | 64 |
| Table 5: | Summary of Sample Items for the Need for Cognition Scale | 65 |
| Table 6: | Means of Epistemological Beliefs Subscales by Gender and Age | 70 |
| Table 7: | Means of Epistemological Beliefs Subscales by Major | 71 |
| Table 8: | Comparison of Mean Scores and Standard Deviations for the Epistemological Beliefs Dimensions | 72 |
| Table 9: | Comparison of Mean Scores and Standard Deviations for Motivational Goals, Approaches to Learning, and Need for Cognition | 73 |
| Table 10: | Correlations of Epistemological Beliefs Subscales | 74 |
| Table 11: | Correlations of Motivation Subscales | 75 |
| Table 12: | Correlations of Approaches to Learning Subscales | 76 |
| Table 13: | Correlations of Epistemological Beliefs and Motivation Subscales | 77 |
| Table 14: | Correlations of Motivation Subscales, Approaches to Learning, Need for Cognition, and Grades | 78 |
| Table 15: | Correlations of Approaches to Learning Subscales, Need for Cognition, and Course Grade | 79 |
| Table 16: | Correlations of Epistemological Beliefs, Motivation, Approaches to Learning, Need for Cognition, and Course Grades | 80 |

| Table 17: Cluster Group Means on Epistemological Beliefs Subscales | 81 |
|---|----|
| Table 18: Cluster Group Description | 83 |
| Table 19: Cluster Group Means on Motivation, Approaches to Learning, and Need for Cognition Variables | 84 |

Chapter 1: Introduction

When law students start their first day of law school they bring more than just heavy case books and thick reading packets to their first class. As they settle into their seats in the classroom with their fellow students who have the same learning resources and who will have similar learning experiences, it is perhaps a bygone conclusion that these law students will not all achieve the same results. First-year law students come to class, each with their own particular sets of knowledge, beliefs, and goals, and conceptions of learning rooted in educational experiences that occurred long before that first law school class. Students' individual conceptions of law school are comprised of expectations for an intense period of learning, their prior knowledge about previous learning experiences, and perhaps their zest for spirited competition as they begin the study of law.

As they listen to the law professor start to teach, the particular character of each law student's law school experience begins to unfold. How will students' prior knowledge, beliefs, and goals interact with and influence their motivation to learn, their selection and use of learning strategies, and their comprehension and integration of law-related information? These questions in themselves may be of interest to anyone directly involved with instructing law students, with designing experiences for students to practice lawyering skills, or with advising students how to adopt more effective learning strategies in order to succeed in law school. However, because law students and the study of the law offer special circumstances of learning that bear on educational and psychological models of motivation and beliefs as these are purported to influence learning, the questions addressed in this dissertation evolved to the following: do

descriptions of beliefs about knowledge and learning that portray advanced and more successful undergraduates as more sophisticated apply when these same students become newcomers to the study of a field? Does the study of the law, a time-honored tradition with particular practices that juxtapose seemingly contradictory tensions between competition and collaboration, lecture/transmission and problem-solving/analytic thinking, and amount and depth of information, call upon a different mix of motivational strategies and beliefs about learning than have been attributed to success in undergraduate education? Can we learn from looking at the law school experience how students with different conceptions of learning coordinate their cognitive and affective resources to achieve success? The purpose of this dissertation was to contribute to research and conceptualizations that would address questions like these.

In her descriptions of the knowledge and thinking processes associated with various fields of study, Donald (2002) noted that students' intellectual development is disadvantaged by obstacles with which they must deal during their postsecondary study. For one thing, the growing amount of knowledge in various fields strains students' abilities to investigate and to organize thoroughly all the knowledge they are asked to acquire. Also, as students specialize in various sub-areas of a field, they risk developing a fragmented knowledge base that leaves them unable to converse with others even in their own field. In addition, increased participation in higher education means students with more diverse educational backgrounds and varying commitment to learning goals are to be found in today's post-secondary classroom. Students often do not have the opportunity to receive individual attention from instructors. According to Donald, these conditions

lead to "an increased emphasis on content to the detriment of the development of thinking processes. In consequence, many students approach their studies in a superficial manner. . ." (2002, p. xii).

Even students entering law school may have arrived there without having developed a very nuanced or sophisticated understanding of what it means to learn. Thus the areas of the literature that informed my work were the sometimes dissentious field describing learners as representing different epistemological beliefs (Pintrich, 2002), the prolific work on learner motivations (Pintrich, Smith, Garcia, & McKeachie, 1991), and the contributions from international research on approaches to learning (Marton & Säljö, 1984). However, first I will describe the learning environment that provides the backdrop for law students' conceptions of learning.

Legal Education and Student Cognition and Learning

In her book describing how students and professors of various disciplines view the learning processes in their own field, Donald (2002) listed some of the characteristics of the learning context for law students. She noted that law is one of the fields (like engineering) in which the learning context is influenced more "by the discipline in its professional stance rather than by the university" (p. 173). Consequently, she noted that although law professors are mindful of their obligation to direct students to the implicit and explicit skills that inform later practice, for the most part, law schools tend to emphasize case study content over skill in the education of lawyers. As Donald stated, "...the context for law students consists of a discipline that is highly influenced by professional concerns, in which abstraction and pragmatism vie for dominance" (p. 173).

The legal profession has time-honored instructional conventions for educating law students who not only must accumulate a great deal of legal knowledge and understanding but who also must develop the judgment to analyze and apply that knowledge to the ever-changing complexities of the modern judicial process.

Interestingly, although there is a long tradition of legal education, there has been a recent surge of interest in improving both the teaching efforts of law professors and the learning efforts of law students. Contributions to these reform efforts would seem to depend on an examination of law students' conceptual experience of law school and the impact that this extraordinary environment has on their decisions and actions for learning. Legal education is an interesting context to examine for many reasons, but those most relevant to this study are (1) the type of learning experience a law school environment engenders in law students, (2) the complex nature of the knowledge that is to be acquired, and (3) the importance of students' conceptions of learning, instruction, and motivation to the achievement of their learning goals.

The learning environment of the classroom and the broader social environment of the law school community is one aspect of the learning context that can have an impact on law students' learning efforts. In current thought about education, good learning is promoted as occurring in socio-constructivist environments wherein students are actively involved in learning processes that allow them to exercise choices in their own interests for learning, be maximally involved in creating meaning related to their own prior knowledge, and work cooperatively in social interactions with other learners in a knowledge building process (Berry & Sahlberg, 1996). However, law students are not

often able to interact in this optimum type of learning environment. For example, typically, many first-year law courses are dominated by traditional professor-delivered lectures that are saturated with case studies. As Donald (2002) noted, many law professors view their educational task as helping students become familiar enough with the substantive rules of law that they can make use of the knowledge in future study or practice. In large first-year classes, students have little opportunity to process purposefully and independently the information during class. Nor do professors often have the opportunity to explore the depths of individual students' prior knowledge, misconceptions, or current understandings. Except for the times when students either choose to interact or are called upon to answer questions, students usually have little direct impact on what is taught in their first-year courses. These kinds of classroom learning conditions would not be featured as exemplary socio-constructivist learning experiences for students.

There are other contextual factors that are part of law students' learning context that may uniquely contribute to their learning endeavors. For example, in many law schools, first-year law students take semester-long or year-long courses that have a single opportunity for assessment, the final examination grade or score. Many law schools rank order their students by these grades and students' experiences are immediately influenced by their performances (e.g., interviews for summer employment are often granted according to a student's grade point average or class ranking). Consequently, students are involved in a learning situation that is filled with external pressures to perform in a highly competitive environment. It is interesting to note that at the same time law students

compete with each other for grades, rankings, and employment, they must often engage in collaborative learning interactions with each other in order to share the work load of generating study notes, analyzing case law, or studying for examinations. While they may need to cooperate with other students to digest quickly the enormous amount of information that they are expected to know and emotionally support each other in the learning context, law students are mindful of the fact that they still must strive to achieve better than their peers in order to obtain desired objectives. These types of divergent contextual issues may seem to be at odds with each other, but in actuality they provide the substantive grist for the priorities students must set and the choices students must make during law school.

The complexity of the legal field also provides an interesting backdrop for examining law students' conceptions about learning. Whatever the various disciplines of first-year law students' previous education, law school requires them to learn to think like a lawyer, solve puzzles, investigate facts, and perform legal analyses using syllogism and analogy. Legal thought is validated by intellectual processes that use human authority, everchanging tradition (legal precedent), legal evidence, logic, and persuasion (Donald, 2002). To facilitate the understanding and assimilation of the complexity of legal skills, law professors often rely on specific examples or cases that encapsulate the more abstract principles and legal issues that they want to examine. Students can then take advantage of the framework that is in place to structure their learning of knowledge that has largely been codified in statutes and precedents. First-year law students' abilities to be aware of their own thinking processes, learning needs, and the requirements of the law school

educational environment largely influence their ability successfully to navigate and manage the various learning tasks of law school.

Finally, there are several characteristics that make first-year law students an especially interesting group to examine for learning conceptions. For one thing, these students have already had several (if not many) successful learning experiences that have enabled them to complete their undergraduate education and then to be admitted into a selective law school program. Therefore, it may be assumed that as students who have experienced academic success, first-year law students have some ability to be selfdirected in their own learning pursuits (e.g., Pintrich, 1989). This self-directedness includes their metacognitive capability to select, plan, and manage their learning activities in ways that are appropriate to the task. Additionally, many successful students are also known to use strategies, such as elaboration or self-monitoring (Pintrich, 1989), that allow for deeper processing of information in ways that expand their understanding. First-year law students may be expected to be almost ideal students: self-motivated, selfdirected, and focused on learning activities that allow for the development of meaningful understanding. However, even these experienced students may find that they have to acquire new strategies to cope with their learning environment and accomplish their learning tasks in ways that allow them to achieve their goals for attending law school. An examination of this group of students may help educators understand how their conceptions of learning contribute to or detract from their law school learning experiences. Data from such an interesting group of students learning in a time-honored and prescribed instructional context may inform a theoretical understanding of constructs

that relate to epistemological beliefs and motivation. The sections that follow introduce the research on epistemological beliefs about learning and instruction and the work on assumptions about studying and motivations for learning.

Epistemological Beliefs

One body of work has posited that students' beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning influences what actions they take as they learn. This area of epistemological development originated from Perry's (1970) research on the intellectual development of male college students. Perry described sequential stages of students' changes in their views of knowledge. These and other developmental models of epistemological growth (Belenky et al, 1986; Baxter Magdola, 1992, Kitchener & King, 1981) expanded to cognitive models of epistemological beliefs. More recently, attention and research has been directed toward the study of students' epistemological beliefs as multidimensional constructs of beliefs about the structure, certainty, source, speed, and control of knowledge (Hofer & Pintrich, 1997; Schommer, 1994b). Such research has found that epistemological beliefs help explain how, and how effectively students process information, interpret knowledge, and monitor their learning. Students with more mature beliefs are said to be more sophisticated about knowledge acquisition and learning. Epistemologically more sophisticated students comprehend information better, are more able to handle complex problems, and are more likely to use strategies that lead to higher academic achievement than less sophisticated students (Schommer, 1994).

Researchers often present epistemological beliefs results in ways that emphasize classifying students as either sophisticated or naïve. An assumption can be made based on

terms such as sophisticated and naïve that only the students on the sophisticated end of the beliefs scales are acting in ways that are valued educationally. Those who study epistemological beliefs, however, have rarely considered how students who have less sophisticated beliefs successfully navigate their learning environment. This is related to one of the major issues of epistemological beliefs research that has to do with the independent nature of belief systems. Schommer's (1990; 1994) early work confirmed that students may be sophisticated in some beliefs and still be naïve (less sophisticated) in other beliefs. However, as Schommer-Aikins (2002) recently asserted, epistemological beliefs are better represented as degrees of beliefs about knowledge and instruction that students hold within the same dimension. Schommer-Aikins explained that "...among epistemological belief researchers, epistemological maturity was presumed to be indicated by learners' propensity to believe that knowledge is tentative and complex and that learning is gradual and controllable.... As an example of asynchrony, at some point in time an individual may strongly believe in complex knowledge (considered a more mature belief) and simultaneously strongly believe in unchanging knowledge (considered a less mature belief)" (Schommer-Aikins, 2002, p. 106). Schommer cautioned against assuming that learners' beliefs will mature in synchrony and instead urged that students' development should be considered on an individual basis.

Additionally, by using the term less sophisticated, researchers may be overlooking some processes of beliefs that are truly important, propagating a view of these students as needing remediation in order to progress along the beliefs continuum and adopt more productive academic beliefs. As Schommer-Aikins (2002) noted, if students' beliefs

about learning and instruction are independent and do not necessarily develop at the same rate, then even the less sophisticated epistemological beliefs may serve a useful purpose for students. For example, the ability simultaneously to hold opposing beliefs may be especially useful in new learning contexts in which students are very dependent upon the guidance and explanations of content that come from professors, textbooks, and other professional sources. Students who believe that experts and teachers are the font of knowledge and at the same time believe that knowledge can be constructed in a collaborative manner through discussions may have the ability strategically to apply their epistemological beliefs in response to their learning situation in ways that allow them to use familiar processes to achieve their learning goals. Their beliefs might lead students to build meaningful understandings from attending carefully to information from a professor and at the same time garner the collective resources of other students by studying together. Along with understanding how students are able to draw on different aspects of their belief system to meet the demands of a learning situation or need, it also is important to examine how students who are in various degrees of epistemological beliefs synchrony respond to different learning environments. For example, are asynchronous students at more or less advantage in an ill-structured learning environment than students who are characterized as clearly sophisticated or naive in their epistemological beliefs?

Epistemological beliefs researchers have also been concerned with whether students' epistemological beliefs generalize across learning situations and subjects or whether epistemological beliefs are specific to a particular discipline or field of study. Much of the early research in epistemological beliefs was based upon the assumption that if

epistemological beliefs are domain general, then students can be expected to hold the same beliefs across learning situations and disciplines (Schommer-Aikins, Duell, & Baker, 2003). Research about students' epistemological beliefs has been conducted in various disciplines including science, mathematics, social studies, and engineering (Schommer & Walker, 1995). Comparative studies of students' epistemological beliefs in different fields have yielded a general understanding that students in different disciplines differ in their epistemological beliefs. For example, Jehng, Johnson, and Anderson (1993) found that college humanities, arts, and science majors had more sophisticated beliefs than engineering and business students. Paulsen and Wells (1998) attempted to narrow the essential quality of the domain differences so that accurate comparisons could be made. They found differences among students' epistemological beliefs in hard or soft disciplines and pure or applied disciplines. According to Schommer-Aikins, Duell, and Barker (2003), the ill-structured nature of the domain is an important distinction that needs to be made when comparing epistemological beliefs across disciplines. Their research indicated that epistemological beliefs are domain general, but students have difficulty applying their usual strategies and epistemological beliefs in fields that are illstructured.

Examinations of epistemological beliefs across disciplines invariably led to discussions of whether the disciplines themselves either attract students who hold similar epistemological stances or whether they nurture a specific epistemological viewpoint in students due to the cognitive requirements, proofs, or questions that compose the typical problems in the field. Although research is needed to examine students across various

disciplines, even more information is needed about how students within a single discipline cope with a learning environment that does not necessarily favor the epistemological beliefs about learning and instruction that are usually championed in the literature.

One of the most pervasive messages of research in epistemological beliefs literature is that instructional remedies should be used to identify and help students with less mature beliefs change these beliefs. These issues (the independent nature of beliefs and the domain generality of beliefs) highlight the importance of understanding how epistemological beliefs change over time and how epistemological change processes work within students in a particular learning context. Although research indicates that epistemological belief change is a developmentally gradual process (Perry, 1970; Kitchener & King, 1981), other research supports the idea that epistemological beliefs are reflections of students' exposure to the ideas and concepts of the whole course of their education, a more contextual perspective of epistemological beliefs (Pintrich, 2002). Students' epistemological beliefs are related to, among other things, their previous school learning experiences and are influenced by interactions with others in the learning environment (Jehng, Johnson, & Anderson 1993; Paulsen & Wells, 1998). Beliefs do not change just because of logical necessity, and, as previously noted, it is possible for two logically unrelated beliefs to be held at the same time (Nespor, 1987). To a small extent this is evidenced by the difficulty some experienced students have relinquishing cherished study or learning habits. Allegiance to accepted, well-used methods of learning based on old assumptions may persist because it is easier to use procedures tried out over

many hours of classroom experience than to trust a new approach. It is also more difficult to implement procedures based on newer, less stable, beliefs (Pajares, 1992), such as those law students must develop when they encounter, for instance, the realization that it takes more time than they anticipated to learn when and how to apply the concepts and principles advanced in their courses.

Having presented these admittedly major issues in the field of epistemological beliefs, I must now delimit considerably the scope of the present study as it represents only the beginning of investigating these issues. This study extends knowledge about the epistemological beliefs of academically successful students who are yet novices in an ill-structured learning environment. Furthermore, this study of first-year law students provides a description of students' conceptions and explores how students with different epistemological beliefs in this environment respond in appreciably detectable ways. The overarching goal is to determine if epistemological beliefs truly make a difference in what law school students are able to achieve academically or practically in preparation for their profession.

Motivation and Approaches to Learning

Other educational research has examined relationships between students' motivational beliefs and their achievement (Pintrich, 1989) and students' approaches to their learning tasks (Marton & Säljö, 1984). Students' reasons for engaging in learning tasks and their decisions during learning tasks are influenced by their beliefs about their actions for acquiring knowledge and organizing information in useful ways.

Epistemological beliefs can augment or limit the knowledge, motivational beliefs, and

learning strategies that students have ready access to in any given learning situation (Paulsen & Wells, 1998). For indeed, the cognitive learning strategies that first-year law students select may depend on their unique patterns of learner characteristics (e.g., expectations for success, personal preferences for thinking deeply), their personal beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning (e.g., that teachers are the sole authority, that learning should happen quickly), and their approaches to learning (e.g., using simple memorization strategies or strategies that facilitate deeper learning).

Academic motivation is often viewed as a complex construct that integrates components such as students' goals for learning, efforts, intentions, and self-perceptions for their ability to achieve with their cognitive processes for learning (Pintrich & Garcia, 1993). Students vary in their reasons for engaging in academic tasks, in their expectations for learning, and in their management of effort to persist with difficult or mundane learning tasks. This is true even of high-achieving students who demonstrate that there is more than one path to success.

Research on approaches to learning is directed towards describing the actions and processes students take as they go about a learning task (Marton & Säljo, 1984). These researchers have generally noted that students with different intentions for learning process information in either superficial (surface) or deliberate (deep) ways that influence their learning and understanding of the information. Although epistemological beliefs about learning and knowledge and assumptions of learning are cognitive processes that influence learning, few researchers have examined how beliefs and approaches are related or how they influence and are influenced by other learning components such as

motivations and goals, and contextual factors (e.g., Buel, 2003). This study examines these issues with law students.

Although there are several studies of law students' reflections on their personal experiences in law school or perspectives on classroom practices that hinder or enhance learning (Hess, 1997), little research has been conducted specifically to investigate law students' beliefs about learning and instruction and their on-going efforts to sustain or modify their beliefs about learning during their years in law school. First-year law students are interesting to examine because of the complex nature of the knowledge that is to be acquired, the impact of the social context upon learning, and the importance of students' individual cognitive skills and efforts upon their academic success.

The interplay of all of these processes was the focus of this study. This dissertation sought to make in-roads in gaining an understanding of the interconnections among beliefs, approaches to learning, and motivation of law students in their first year of law school. Additionally, understanding how law students develop and refine their conceptions for learning as they become more experienced in dealing with the law school environment has been a goal of this study.

Purpose of this Study

The purpose of this study was to examine first year law students' conceptual experience of law school. Students' conceptual experience of law school refers to their beliefs about learning and knowledge, their assumptions about ways to approach their studies, and their motivations and goals for attending law school and eventually entering the legal profession. This study was undertaken to determine how first year law-students'

academic efforts were influenced by their beliefs about learning and instruction, their strategies for trying to accomplish their academic tasks, and their motivations and goals for learning.

The questions that guided this study were the following:

- (1) As advanced students, do first-year law students show a range of epistemological beliefs that compares to traditional age students as reported in previously published research?
- (2) Is there a relationship between first-year law students' epistemological beliefs, their assumptions about learning, and their motivations and goals?
- (3) How do law students make sense of their conceptions about their learning experiences in law school?

Chapter 2: Literature Review

"Every individual has an implicit model or conceptualization of knowledge and learning that determines the way the person thinks about the instructional process" (Shuell, 1996, p. 727). Although instructors and students may seem to have a common purpose, that of students' acquisition and eventual application of knowledge, getting to the end product of a learning interaction is a multifaceted proposition. Law students may be particularly interesting in this respect. While they have experienced academic success prior to law school, the domain of knowledge they aspire to attain is distinctive due to its cognitive complexity and learning requirements. For this reason, students' past approaches to learning may need to be altered. Additionally, when students are faced with such complexity, it is not unusual for them to rely on the personal theories and implicit understandings about how to learn that have led them to academic success in the past. Thus, their beliefs and assumptions about knowledge and how to acquire knowledge have a mediating effect upon what they learn in this new environment. First-year law students' learning-related beliefs influence their learning choices and, in turn, could impact their academic performance. As Shuell (1996) explained, "the manner in which the student perceives, interprets, and processes information from the various things that happened during [a class] (and at other times) is the primary determiner of the educational outcomes acquired by students" (p. 727).

In the following sections, I provide information about the unique context of studying law. I will then review the existing literature on students' epistemological beliefs about knowledge and instruction before moving to a review of the literature on motivation and

self-regulatory strategies. In a third section, I will review studies on conceptions of learning that combine epistemological beliefs and motivation. In the last section, I will conclude with a synthesis of how these processes interact with students' learning endeavors

The Law School Context and Students' Learning

Learning is embedded in a rich, complex environment that provides the context for activating students' cognitive processes that affect their decisions, actions, and motivations for learning. Although this study is primarily about students' conceptions – their thought structures and how their beliefs, motivations, and orientations for learning impact what they do to learn – it is critical to situate such a study by considering particular factors in a law school learning environment that may affect first-year law students' conceptions for learning. Anderson (1989) identified several elements of an instructional environment that impact student learning. These include students' academic goals (Schutz, 1991), their perceptions of their learning role and of their teacher's instructional role, the nature of the learning task, and the overall social climate. Similar to students in other professions, first-year law students potentially have many different contextual influences upon their learning efforts. The following sections will discuss features of the law school learning environment that can influence students' conceptions for learning, such as the instructional methods used in law school, the quantity and type of information students typically have to manage in law school, the kind of cognitive tasks that law students have to perform, and the complexity of the information they have to learn.

Students' Responses to the Instructional Environment

One environmental impact upon law students' learning is the method of instruction that students receive in their introductory law courses. First-year law school instruction is often one that emphasizes teacher-centered, rather than student-centered instructional methods (Campbell, 1997). Student-centered instruction puts the students' understanding, or meaning-making efforts at the focal point for learning. Students use their accumulation of beliefs, motives, intentions, and previous learning to create meaning, acquire knowledge, and apply understanding to new situations. For instructors, a student-centered emphasis means that they are just as concerned about the conceptions and learning activities of their students as they are about lesson preparation and methodology.

By contrast, law school is often teacher-centered. Conventional first-year law school education gives a central role to instruction using the casebook method with in-class discussions of appellate court opinions. Many law professors see their primary responsibility as making this body of knowledge accessible to their students (Donald, 2002). Students learn to use analogies based upon previously decided cases as examples for developing legal reasoning abilities. As Nathanson (1997) pointed out, this emphasis on learning the rules of substantive law is not often connected to students' prior experience with law-related topics or with their expectations for developing the skills that lawyers use to help people.

In a study of law students' perceptions of classroom experiences that enhanced or hindered their learning in law school, Hess (1997) reported that students are less responsive to teacher-centered instructional environments. Students reported they often

did not feel they were engaged in a collaborative process with their professors to develop course objectives, learn information that met their goals for law school, or learn information that was connected to their real life experiences. On the other hand, students reported that instructional activities that enhanced their learning efforts included student-centered methods that helped them understand abstract concepts or solve problems derived from real world situations (Campbell, 1997; Hess, 1997).

Although law professors could purposefully try to cultivate a student-centered learning environment that, for one thing, made use of students' prior knowledge about law subjects, the demands of legal education often preclude them from connecting information to individual students. Nevertheless, students have a tendency to respond to new learning environments by making their own connections with prior knowledge. For example, students have prior knowledge about topics that comprise law school courses, such as wills and estate, property, or contracts, and this prior knowledge influences the connections they make to new information or concepts they are learning (Nathanson, 1997). Thus, one possible effect of the teacher-centered instructional methods upon first-year law students' conceptions for learning may be that students may fall back on their own prior experience as learners in other contexts to help themselves deal with certain aspects of this new experience (Holt-Reynolds, 1992).

Interestingly, Bond and Le Brun (1996) recently noted that law school faculty are paying more attention to the shift in focus from a knowledge delivery to a student-centered approach to learning that has occurred in higher education. They heralded the need for law schools to provide a learning context in which students "construct their own

knowledge frameworks" and use these frameworks to further their learning and achievement in law school (Bond & Le Brun, 1996, p. 28). Whatever instructional approaches are used in law school, students will respond to the instructional environment by structuring their thoughts and conceptions in ways that are most relevant to them. Students' Responses to Instructional Methods

Law students' perceptions of their learning role and the relation of that role to their professors' instructional choices are other important features of the learning context.

Black (1996) reported that law students' perceptions of teaching methods affected their experience of the learning process itself. Black selected an introductory law course that was conducted using four teaching methods that included a formal lecture in combination with either a tutoring session or an interactive workshop, an independent research assignment combined with a discussion session, or a skill-based seminar. Law students were interviewed about the effectiveness of the teaching methods and the influence that the various methods had upon their learning process. Black's analysis of student interviews showed that most students valued the lecture method combined with an interactive workshop. They appreciated the information they received from the lectures and enjoyed the workshop interactions that included role-playing and games. The lectures gave them needed information and the interactive workshops allowed them to practice and clarify their understanding of the content.

Most of the students in Black's (1996) study reported that teaching methods influenced, either negatively or positively, the way they went about learning course information and their perceptions of the instructor. Some students found, for example,

that formal lectures limited them to take in the information that was given and then to use strategies that focus on recording, absorbing, and memorizing the information given. The implied message from a lecture method was that the information given in lecture was authoritative and important and to be given utmost attention by students. On the other hand, some students found the structure and directness of the lecture helpful for organization and guidance for knowing what was important to study. Similarly, students spoke of the independent research in combination with a discussion session as a method that allowed them to have more control over the content and skills they needed to learn or as a method that was too open-ended and unstructured for them to feel secure in the direction they needed to take for studying. Another study that examined law students' learning processes according to the type of course they were taking found that students used higher-order strategies, such as obtaining knowledge from outside the course, when the course was more directly connected to their own experiences and more relevant to their interests (Vermetten, Lodewijks, & Vermunt, 1999). These students also were more engaged and self-directed in courses in which the professor included information about methods for completing tasks or provided suggestions to guide their study decisions.

Thus, these studies indicate the importance of the instructional environment on students' experiences and their conceptions of learning. However, an additional influence upon learning are those embedded within the type of cognitive activities students use in law school. These are discussed in the next session.

Cognitive Tasks

The cognitive tasks students undertake to interact with information is another feature of the learning environment that influences students' conceptions for learning. For example, Donald (2002) compared the thinking and validation processes of law with other disciplines such as the sciences and humanities. The thinking task in law is to learn to think like a lawyer (or as Nathanson (1997) pointed out, to think more like an appeals judge who reviews all sides of the relevant arguments in a case) through processes such as problem-solving, factual investigation, and legal analysis. Donald found that in structured disciplines, such as physics or biology, validation occurs by the use of experimental methods whereby evidence is connected to theory in systematic ways. In less structured disciplines, such as education or literature, validation is derived from the judgments or critiques of others' ideas or work.

Validation in law stems from human authority, tradition, legal evidence and proof, witnesses, and ultimately, the logic and persuasion that it takes to convince a judge or jury to accept a legal argument (Donald, 2002). All of this takes place in the milieu of legal doctrine and precedent. Whatever disciplines law students came from as undergraduate students, it is important that they develop the knowledge and skills that allow them to reason like a lawyer, using the appropriate validation procedures as needed to do their work. As such, first-year law students must not only learn new information but must also learn the appropriate methods to justify and support their reasoning.

According to Donald (2002), in every discipline, students who aspire to become proficient in that discipline must accomplish three essential learning tasks: they must

have an ability to identify the context, state their assumptions, and change their perspectives. Identifying the context is the process of examining a situation for the essential elements in a problem, deriving relevant information from the setting, and recognizing what steps are appropriate. Stating assumptions requires consideration of potential bias or viewpoints that might frame thinking and making them an explicit part of the learning process. Finally, by changing perspective, students are more able critically to consider a problem from a variety of perspectives that allow them to build meaning and understanding. As law students are learning legal knowledge, skills, and values they are challenged to place this learning into an organizing framework that allows them to access all the relevant parts of information they will need to conduct their work.

Developing that framework, however, in itself is not an easy task as the next section indicates.

Complexity of Law-Related Information

Students are also influenced by the complexity of the information they work with in their instructional environment. This is of special concern to first-year law students and the decisions they make about their learning. Spiro, Feltovich, and Coulson (1996) studied the cognitive demands of students who learn in ill-structured domains. Fields such as medicine or law are said to be ill-structured because the individual cases used as examples or instances for teaching are unique in their complexity and have many extensions and connections to diverse yet related areas. Even case examples from the same content area have a great deal of variability in structure and content. In ill-structured fields of study, students must be aware that exemplary explanations contain

various components that may or may not be relevant in every real-world situation. Standard rules are not always applicable in all situations and students need to develop implicit knowledge that helps them recognize and attend to characteristics of the situation that change the decisions they must make. Spiro, Feltovich, and Coulson (1996) found that students who had the most difficulty with ill-structured learning situations tended to oversimplify the complexity and did not attend to all of the relevant information. On the other hand, they noted that students who performed well with complex learning scenarios (e.g., cases) developed cognitive flexibility in their approaches of attending to, and using, relevant information for adaptive problem-solving.

Although theoretical legal issues provide students an organizing framework for understanding law (Keyes & Orr, 1996), the study of law is an ill-structured domain. Law is in a constant state of flux due to the changes in legislation, rulings, or societal norms that affect laws (Donald, 2002). Additionally, students have to learn to recognize the needs in a particular case to which they should respond. To be successful, law students must develop cognitive flexibility for adaptive problem-solving. However, students' personal beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning may interfere with their learning of the complex, ill-structured domain of practicing law. Indeed, Spiro, Feltovich, and Coulson's (1996) research has suggested that some students hold "underlying beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning that predispose" them toward or "guard them against" certain ways of acquiring (in this case) advance, complex knowledge (p. 551). They reasoned that these underlying beliefs affect students' subsequent behavior, such that they may be less likely to engage in or sustain the kind of cognitive activities

necessary for successful learning. "These kinds of beliefs are qualitative conceptions about the nature of knowledge and represent personal, non-scientific theories about knowledge" (Neber & Schommer-Aikins, 2002, p. 60).

Bond and LeBrun (1996) defined the term *conception* as "the meaning that we place on the relation between a person and a phenomenon in the world – that person's experience of a particular phenomenon. If the phenomenon is law, then one's conception of law is the meaning that one gives or understanding that one has of that experience" (Bond & Le Brun, 1996, p. 5). For first-year law students who are novices to the study of law, the particular phenomenon that comprises their conceptions may be the meaning they give to the experience of law school itself. Their conceptions, then, would understandably center on the experience of being a learner in the complex learning environment of law school. One type of student conceptions are their beliefs about the processes of knowing and the nature of knowledge of influence the way they approach the complex learning demands in law school. The following section describes research that has been conducted about the nature of beliefs.

The Nature of Students' Beliefs About Learning

Some researchers (e.g., Schraw, 2001) begin their discussion about students' beliefs by examining the differences between knowledge and beliefs. Historically, philosophical studies of epistemology (the study of knowledge) were rooted in extensive debates about the nature of truth. Beliefs, defined as faith claims about truth, were contrasted with knowledge, defined as justified, true beliefs (Schraw, 2001). Steup (1996) for example, identified three conditions for knowledge: that a person believes a proposition, has

justifying evidence for that belief, and does not possess any other proposition that factually defeats the evidence for that belief. By contrast, constructivist views of learning and thinking position beliefs as a component of knowledge. Learning researchers consider knowledge as the information, skills, beliefs and memories that comprise a person's individual storehouse of understanding. Knowledge in this sense is not necessarily objectively verified knowledge (Alexander, Schallert, & Hare, 1991). Cognitive learning researchers, thus, have considered beliefs and knowledge to be comparable cognitive structures that serve as organizing frameworks replete with interconnections and relationships with other cognitive structures (e.g., schemas, Schallert, 2002). These, in turn, influence knowledge structures as well as other belief structures (e.g., beliefs about self, Rokeach, 1968).

For purposes of this study, beliefs are "repertories of understanding" (Munby, 1982) that refer to the implicit theories that pervade and influence students' achievement related thoughts and behaviors, while at the same time being influenced by those two processes. A review of the literature about beliefs is admittedly an excursion into several divergent lines of research about the psychological context in which students plan, decide, and act. Beliefs research related to education include topics such as students' perspectives on learning, students' conceptions of learning or studying, and students' implicit theories for learning. For example, Rando and Menges (1991) defined implicit theories as "submerged rationales about events in the world and about [one's] behavior in the world" (p. 7). They conceptualized implicit (or informal) theories as existing beyond the awareness of the individual and distinct from the knowledge structures that represent

formal theories. The assumptions that students make about different aspects of a learning situation help them to cope consistently with an ever-changing environment. The tacit nature of these informal theories or assumptions allows students to react quickly without having to examine all of the contingencies present in an educational situation. Rando and Menges (1991) suggested that students' implicit theories may be inaccurate because they are self-protective, created without awareness rather than purposefully, and automatically accepted as part of the larger ideological system associated with an academic institution or culture.

The overarching commonality among these different lines of research about beliefs is the acknowledgement that this kind of cognitive structure is important for understanding students' thought processes and learning. In contrast to other kinds of knowledge structures, belief structures are likely to be more specific to individuals, are often not examined or articulated, and are used as unexamined guides for learning (Rando & Menges, 1991). Nespor (1987) was foundational in explicating the differences between beliefs and knowledge concepts. The following section describes these characteristics. *The Structural Features of Beliefs*

Studying beliefs is useful because it allows consideration of the underlying cognitive structures that affect learning behavior. When beliefs are made salient in response to classroom events or purposeful reflection, the underlying belief structures may be examined. Nespor (1997) identified six characteristics that are specific to an individual's beliefs. These belief characteristics may be helpful for understanding how, for example,

impediments in thinking preclude students from readily accepting and acting upon knowledge they receive in class.

Existential presumptions. The first characteristic of beliefs that Nespor described was that of existential presumptions, an abstract quality that Pajares (1992) called the "incontrovertible, personal truths everyone holds" (p. 309). These may best be understood as a person's core beliefs. Individuals rely upon these core beliefs and personal truths to manage the uncertainties present in situations. Students may find that these personal truths facilitate learning when their beliefs are not challenged. In other contexts in which their personal truths are challenged, their beliefs may block cognitive processing. For example, research has shown that students' beliefs can interfere with learning new science concepts (Bell & Linn, 2002) that contradict intuitive beliefs. A conflicting belief may prevent students from understanding all the nuances of a new concept or it may hinder them from making the cognitive effort to reconcile the new information with their previous understanding (Weinstein & Mayer, 1986). Students may therefore find that their personal beliefs facilitate or interfere with their motivations for engaging in learning tasks.

Idealized realities. Nespor's (1987) second characterizing quality of beliefs is that of idealized realities. Individuals often have strong notions about how things ought to be. For example, some students may believe that learning should occur quickly, otherwise it will not occur at all (Schommer, 1990). If such idealized versions of realities go unchallenged, they can be a primary influence upon students' thinking about classroom

goals and tasks. For example, students who believe that learning should occur quickly may be inclined to lose interest or motivation if they encounter challenges.

Affective and evaluative quality. The third characteristic of beliefs concerns the affective and evaluative properties that serve as a regulatory function. Pajares (1992) noted that beliefs interact with other cognitive systems such as attitudes and values. For students, this regulatory function can influence ways they learn and interact with knowledge. For example, some students may believe they must have the highest grades in a class (an achievement orientation). If students identify with being the best and the brightest student, they will have strong emotional reactions if they encounter a situation in which they are not in first place, and will have a strong accompanying and negative self-evaluation. Students in this situation could disengage from the academic task. On the other hand, if students have a strong work ethic, believing that they should always try their hardest, this belief may serve as a supportive regulatory function to facilitate their academic engagement.

Episodic memory. Nespor's fourth characteristic highlights the way in which beliefs are accumulated and stored in memory compared to knowledge concepts. While knowledge is semantically stored, beliefs are accumulated based upon the personal experiences, real life events, and cultural or institutional folklore that are stored in episodic memory. Although episodic memory is usually short in duration and highly susceptible to reconstruction, teachers and students rely upon specific classroom episodes for teaching and learning (Martin, 1993). Students may remember, for example, specific

situations in which they learned to calculate a mathematics problem a certain way and continue to use the same procedure even when it is no longer useful.

Nonconsensuality. Nespor referred to nonconsensuality as the fifth characteristic of beliefs. In contrast to knowledge systems that accumulate and change according to agreed upon rules of evidence, belief systems are composed of tentative propositions that could be considered debatable to those who do not share similar beliefs. Beliefs, therefore, are less open to the evaluation or critical examination that people apply to knowledge concepts (Pajares, 1992). Non-consensus is associated with the four previously mentioned belief characteristics: assumptions about personal truths, idealized realities, regulatory function, and personally meaningful episodic memories. As such, belief systems are less malleable than knowledge systems and are therefore difficult to change.

Unboundedness. Nespor's final belief characteristic, unboundedness, also is a characteristic of an individual's entire belief system. Belief systems are loosely bound, highly variable, and multiply-linked to memory and knowledge systems. Not only is it difficult to relate real world events to ascertain the source of an individual's beliefs because their beliefs are interconnected to personal, episodic, and emotional experiences, it is also difficult to predict how a person's beliefs will extend to their behavior across multiple situations. In other words, as Nespor stated, "people read belief-based meanings into situations where others would not see their relevance" (Nespor, 1992, p. 321).

Other features. While Nespor concentrated on describing the structural qualities of beliefs in contrast to knowledge, other researchers described other key aspects of the nature of beliefs. For example, Pratt (1992) found that beliefs can be classified in terms

of their clarity, confidence, and centrality. The clarity of beliefs was demonstrated by whether beliefs were easily explained in a clear and coherent manner or if they were vague and implicit. The confidence of beliefs had to do with whether beliefs were held tentatively or considered incontestable. The centrality of beliefs is the quality of beliefs that made them marginal or dominant to thoughts about learning and teaching.

Rokeach (1968) argued that beliefs vary in intensity and power along a centralperipheral dimension. The more central a belief, the more important it is, and the more
resistant it is to change. Conversely, peripheral beliefs are thought to be easier to change.
Beliefs about self and identity are more central, as are beliefs that develop from direct,
personal experiences (derived beliefs) rather than vicarious experiences (underived
beliefs). Beliefs shared with others are also more central. Rokeach stated that the
connectedness of beliefs is another important aspect of the belief structure. Contradictory
beliefs may exist within the same person in different parts of a network of beliefs. Beliefs
that are functionally connected, more central to, or in communication with other beliefs
are more able to influence other beliefs (Rokeach, 1968). The intensity of beliefs is
affected by other cognitive structures such as attitudes, values, and emotions that provide
increased influence upon beliefs.

Considering the structural qualities of beliefs furthers an understanding about the ways beliefs affect and are affected by other processes. For example, while Nespor emphasized the unchangeability of beliefs (as compared to knowledge that is more easily changeable), researchers who have examined the nature of beliefs allow room for some flexibility within the belief structure depending upon, for instance, the clarity or centrality

of the beliefs. These concepts help explain why a belief can have the characteristic of being a stable and inflexible aspect of a student's conceptions and yet be somewhat responsive to the context of the learning situation and instructional environment. These features of beliefs are important structures for understanding student learning actions and achievement. The next section describes theory and research about students' beliefs that are specifically related to the learning process.

Epistemological Beliefs About Learning

The study of epistemological beliefs places an emphasis on the individual's vantage point or personal stance about knowledge. Typically, researchers have used the term *epistemological beliefs* to refer to students' or teachers' beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning (Jehng, Johnson, & Anderson, 1993). Hofer and Pintrich (1997) acknowledged that beliefs about learning and teaching are probably interrelated with personal theories about how knowledge is acquired, and used the term *personal epistemology* in their discussion of the construct.

Pintrich's (2002) suggestion of three positions for thinking about the number and independence of epistemological beliefs is useful for reviewing the literature in this area. First, a cognitive-developmental perspective considers epistemological beliefs and development as unidimensional with distinctions in the position or level of achievement. Maturation generally occurs in a mechanistic manner with students proceeding in a stage-like sequence as they change in epistemological thought. Second, a cognitive perspective of epistemological beliefs considers beliefs in a multiplistic manner within a small number of independent dimensions of beliefs. According to this theoretical stance,

students' upbringing and experience in education contribute to their growth in epistemological stance. Third, a contextualist perspective of epistemological beliefs emphasizes an unspecified number of independent beliefs that individuals draw from as resources to respond to specific demands present in the learning environment. The remainder of this section reviews some of the theoretical bases for the study of epistemological beliefs using these perspectives.

The cognitive-developmentalist perspective of epistemological beliefs research. The roots of empirical investigations about epistemological beliefs are often traced to William Perry (1970) and his interest in the cognitive developmental structure of knowledge. Perry's studies of the intellectual development of male undergraduate students at Harvard University led him to identify recognizable patterns of college students' intellectual change and growth over time. Perry found that at an early stage of intellectual development students viewed knowledge in a dualistic manner in which information was perceived as either "right" or "wrong." Students in the dualism stage also tended to perceive instructors as authority figures who would provide the answers to students. Perry noted that as students progressed in their education, they entered the multiplicity stage in which they were able to appreciate an intellectual world in which multiple points of views could exist with expert proponents supporting each viewpoint. Additionally, at the multiplicity stage, students typically thought that one point of view was as good as any other. Later on in the process of knowledge acquisition, students arrived at the relativism stage. At this stage, they viewed knowledge as correct depending upon various elements within a particular context. Finally, students entered the commitment stage

during which they recognized that, although there were multiple possibilities, they needed to make a strong commitment to certain perspectives or ideas. They also were able to acknowledge that this commitment could be amended.

Interestingly, as students progressed through Perry's (1970) stages with increasing complexity of thought, they also experienced changes in their conceptions of knowledge, their role as learners, and their expectations of instructors. Perry's research emphasized that as college students proceed through their studies, they often progress through cognitive activities that allowed them to leave behind less effective ways of thinking. These students had an ability to "give up more primitive strategies as new ones develop[ed]" (Braebeck, 1984, p. 13).

Because Perry's work was solely focused on male students in an elite undergraduate educational experience, it was inevitable that others would see the need to expand on Perry's work. For example, Belenky, Clinchy, Goldberger, & Tarule's (1986) examined sequential patterns of epistemological development in women's reflections about knowledge and learning. Baxter Magolda (1992) studied the commonsensical theories individuals of both genders held about knowing. Interest eventually shifted to the cognitive processes of thinking and reasoning and the assumptions people make about knowledge, how people come to know, and the weight of certainty they place on what they know (Kitchner & King, 1990; Duell & Schommer-Aikens, 2000). Kitchner and King's reflective judgment model consisted of a series of stages that individuals progress through in their beliefs about knowledge from an absolutist, objective view to a more subjective, idiosyncratic view of knowledge. In the final stage, knowledge claims are

examined and deemed reasonable based on supported facts and information (King & Kitchner, 1994).

The study of epistemological beliefs research moved beyond the justification of knowledge and student reasoning to focus on individual epistemological beliefs relative to their learning actions. For example, Ryan's (1984) research on students' epistemological beliefs and text comprehension demonstrated that students with different beliefs used different information processing strategies to achieve their learning objectives. In his studies, he found that students categorized as dualists (i.e., those who defined knowledge as right or wrong) tended to use recognition or memorization strategies to comprehend information while relativists (i.e., those who looked at a variety of sources for knowledge) searched for strategies that facilitated deeper learning.

Wangerin (1988) examined legal education in light of Perry's sequential stage model of development and although he qualified his discussion by acknowledging that student growth through the stages is usually gradual, he couched his anecdotal examples of law student learning and recommendations for instructional practice in terms of helping students move towards more relativistic thinking. Wangerin's review of legal education and supporting research studies did not extend beyond this developmental perspective of students' cognitive growth to consider that epistemological thinking may be comprised of different components that may or may not develop in a sequential manner. Promoting a developmentalist view of epistemological thinking may not allow for adequate consideration of what strategies and resources law students may be able to call upon to bolster their learning and their epistemological thinking. Epistemological beliefs

researchers in the cognitive and contextual perspectives centered their investigations on these issues.

The cognitive perspective of epistemological beliefs research. Schommer (1990, 1994) considered how previous researchers' emphasis on a unidimensional description of belief stages limited the understanding of how beliefs impacted learning. Schommer treated students' epistemological beliefs as a belief system that is "composed of several more or less independent dimensions" (1990, p. 498), bringing in a multidimensional approach to describe each dimension as a continuum of how students' beliefs may vary. Schommer first used five epistemological belief dimensions about the nature of knowledge and learning as expressed from the perspective of the less sophisticated to the more sophisticated beliefs in (1) the certainty of knowledge (i.e., learning ability is fixed and not amenable to change, or growth and improvement in learning is possible) (e.g., Dweck & Leggett, 1988); (2) quick learning (i.e., learning occurs quickly or not at all, or learning occurs gradually) (e.g., Schoenfeld, 1983, 1985); (3) simple knowledge (i.e., knowledge is comprised of isolated pieces of information, or knowledge is interrelated concepts) (e.g., Schoenfeld, 1983, 1985); (4) innate ability (i.e., the ability to learn is a gift one is born with or it can be achieved over time) (e.g., Dweck & Leggett, 1988); and (5) omniscient authority (i.e., knowledge is handed down from authorities or can be derived by individual discovery) (Perry, 1970).

Schommer (1990, 1993) developed an epistemological beliefs questionnaire to assess this system of beliefs and formulated a framework comprised of these five dimensions that vary from naive beliefs to more sophisticated beliefs about the nature of knowledge

and learning. These beliefs reflect the fundamental, dominant beliefs about learning that students may default to without intervening instruction or prompting (Schommer, 1997). Schommer and Walker's (1995) research demonstrated that these beliefs are independent and that they are important for understanding students' learning preferences for conducting academic tasks and ultimately, their academic achievement. Schommer's early work also confirmed the multidimensionality of the dimensions, meaning that students may be sophisticated in some beliefs and still be naive in other beliefs.

Additionally, other researchers have found epistemological beliefs to be an important construct that reflects students' implicit assumptions about knowledge that affect their comprehension, learning choices, and conceptual change (Schommer & Walker, 1995; Qian & Alvermann, 1995). This, in turn, has resulted in further research about important issues surrounding epistemological beliefs. For example, one of the questions of interest has been concerned with whether beliefs are domain specific or general and whether they generalize across different disciplines or domains of knowledge (Jehng, Johnson, & Anderson, 1993; Schommer & Walker, 1995; Paulson & Wells, 1998). Epistemological beliefs have been examined across different age groups, such as middle and high school students (Schommer, 1993); college and university students (e.g., Qian & Alvermann, 1995; Palmer, Marra, & Moore, 2001), and graduate students (e.g., Jehng, et. al., 1993).

There has been some indication that students vary in their beliefs about knowledge and instruction due to their level of educational achievement and field of study. Jehng, Johnson, and Anderson's (1993) study, for example, indicated that graduate students tend to believe that knowledge is uncertain, learning is not necessarily an orderly process, and

that learning independently is essential. Their study did not find a significant difference between graduate and undergraduate students in their beliefs about innate ability and quick process. As advanced students, law students may also show the same tendency as other graduate students, and because of their position as first-year law students, a majority of them may lean toward beliefs that are less sophisticated, such as a belief in innate ability, due to reliance on their academic history. Students may vary their epistemological beliefs for reasons other than marked differences in the academic demands in major fields of study. The learning environment itself may elicit responses from different parts of students' belief systems.

The contextual perspective of epistemological beliefs research. More recently, researchers have emphasized the importance of contextual factors as activating various epistemological thinking resources that students may use. Researchers in this category have also explicated categories for the resources that students may draw from depending on the demands present in an instructional situation. Hammer and Elby (2002), for example, were reluctant to merely describe individuals by their personal theories in a trait-like fashion. They argued against accepting that individuals consistently act according to their primary beliefs in either a unitary or multiplistic category. Instead, they posited that epistemological beliefs are more sensitive to contextual factors, and, in their research with young children, developed a list of more elemental epistemological resources that are generally present in familiar learning situations. The four epistemological resource categories are similar to the of dimensions from the cognitivist perspective and include resources for understanding (1) the nature and source of

knowledge, (2) the performance of knowledge enhancing activities (e.g., checking, gathering), (3) the vehicle or type of knowledge structure (e.g., stories, puzzles), and (4) the type and nature of epistemological stance or reactions to knowledge (e.g., doubt, disbelief). It is hoped that by studying how individuals draw upon these various epistemological resources in reaction to a situational demand a better understanding of epistemological characteristics would result. Epistemological characteristics or traits would presumably be more responsive to instruction and training than the other theoretical conceptions of beliefs would allow (Hammer & Elby, 2002).

Epistemological styles. Epistemological styles researchers have found it more useful to think of epistemological constructs (absolutism, relativism, and evaluatism) as a dispositional combination of beliefs that individuals hold across the constructs to varying degrees (e.g., Charney, Newman & Palmquist, 1995). Epistemological styles allows consideration of the degree to which individuals espouse any epistemological assumptions (Martin, Silva, Newman & Thayer, 1994). Wilkinson & Migotsky (1994), for example, found that participants in their study tended to have a preference for varying numbers of epistemological styles, using preferred styles more frequently than other styles. Epistemological styles may provide a useful description of students' preferred ways of epistemological thinking. However, a dispositional view of epistemological beliefs does not adequately address many of the structural qualities of beliefs that are related to the essential cognitive nature of beliefs rather than the nature of the individual.

Summary of epistemological beliefs theories. As Pintrich (2002) recently noted in his effort to define the boundaries and essential elements of epistemological beliefs

construct, some researchers do not limit personal epistemology to students' beliefs about the nature of knowledge and instruction. Whereas Pintrich and Hofer (2000) argued for four specific dimensions of personal epistemological centered around the certainty, simplicity, source, and justification of knowledge (Hofer & Pintrich, 1997), other researchers have found it useful to broaden their focus to include beliefs about the nature of learning (e.g., quick or slow learning, Schommer, 1994) or how learning is best accomplished (e.g., use of knowledge forms or stances, Hammer & Elby, 2002) or what learning assumptions students may favor (e.g., epistemological styles, Wilkinson & Migotsky, 1994). The cognitive theories of epistemological beliefs can draw from important concepts from the contextual or epistemological style perspectives on epistemological beliefs to expand research in fruitful directions (i.e., the consideration of how the environment activates various epistemologies or how a combination of beliefs dimensions ma be simultaneously held to varying degrees of commitment) (Elen & Clarebout, 2001).

Beliefs about the nature of learning, intelligence, instruction, and beliefs about self are related elements that are central to the cognitive structure of personal epistemologies. Few studies, however have included additional factors such as students' motivations for learning, conceptions of learning and studying, and need for cognition. The focus of this study is to examine epistemological beliefs from the cognitivist perspective and to extend that focus to consider several elements from the learning environment that may prompt students to activate epistemological beliefs, even epistemological beliefs that would

appear to be opposed to each other. This study makes some initial steps in examining these issues in a population not often examined with these constructs.

The following section concerns general motivational constructs that influence the relevance, expectations, and effort students have for learning.

Motivational Aspects of Learning

Little is known about the interrelatedness of law school students' beliefs, motivational goals, and their approaches to studying law. Indeed, one purpose of this dissertation study was to determine how law school students' beliefs about learning and understanding are related to their motivational goals and study strategies. Two important motivational goals that are connected to students' approaches to learning is the extent to which they are intrinsically motivated to engage in academic tasks and/or the extent to which they are extrinsically motivated to engage in academic tasks. Students demonstrate an intrinsic motivation for learning when they engage in academic activity because of an interest in the topic or because the activity itself is rewarding. In contrast to intrinsic motivation, when learning is externally motivated, students perceive that their reward for doing an academic task is external to the learning itself. Students are also motivated by their selfefficacy beliefs or expectations for achieving success in their academic pursuits (Garcia, 1995) and by the commitment they have to regulate their learning endeavors through effort control (Pintrich, Smith, Garcia, & McKeachie, 1991). The following section describes research that has been conducted regarding intrinsic and extrinsic motivational goals, self-efficacy for learning, and effort management.

Goal Orientations

Extrinsic goals. Students demonstrate academic extrinsic motivation when they focus on obtaining external rewards such as grades or praise instead of finding an inward appreciation for what they are learning or the experience of learning. Students who are predominantly extrinsically motivated tend to view academic performance as an indicator of intelligence. For this reason, extrinsically motivated students are less persistent when confronted with obstacles (Pintrich & De Groot, 1990) and they tend to use surface learning strategies (e.g., rote memory with respect to test preparation). Furthermore, students who find external rewards such as grades or praise to be motivating also tend to believe that academic ability is a fixed entity that does not improve with practice or effort (Dweck & Leggett, 1988).

Intrinsic goals. According to Deci and Ryan (1991), intrinsic motivation is really an inborn, internally generated psychological energy. Students who find academic activities intrinsically motivating tend to be more adaptive when they encounter challenges because they are focused on mastering the learning objective (Heyman & Dweck, 1992). For students who find learning situations intrinsically motivating, they are exhilarated from their learning and value their enjoyment of tackling learning tasks. Additionally, these students do not view difficulties as an indicator of incompetence but instead, see learning difficulties as an indicator of a need to increase their effort or change the strategies that they have been using (e.g., Dweck & Leggett, 1988). In this regard, students who are intrinsically motivated to obtain learning objectives tend to focus on mastering learning tasks (Dweck & Leggett, 1988), and towards this end, they tend to be more self-

regulating, more persistent in their academic activities, and more apt to use deeper cognitive learning strategies (Greene & Miller, 1996; Pintrich & De Groot, 1990). Furthermore, students who find learning intrinsically motivating also tend to believe that academic ability is not a fixed entity but is instead malleable and, indeed, increases with effort and practice (Dweck & Leggett, 1988).

In addition to students' motivational goals for engaging in academic tasks, it is important to consider the ways students use personal, contextual, and behavioral factors to regulate their learning (Bandura, 1986). Students' motivations for academic achievement, which includes their intrinsic or extrinsic goal orientation and self-efficacy, affects their activation of self-regulation processes that enable them to take the necessary steps to achieve their goals. One of these self-regulation processes is the confidence students have for their ability to achieve their academic goals.

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy for learning is conceptualized as students' confidence in their abilities to learn course materials or accomplish certain academic tasks (Bandura, 1986, 1989, 1991; Schunk, 1989, 1990). Research regarding self-efficacy for learning has demonstrated that this concept is linked with students' acquisition of skills (Schunk, 1989), continued persistence in dealing with difficult or uninteresting learning tasks (Pintrich & De Groot, 1990), and students' selection and use of cognitive learning strategies to accomplish specific academic tasks (Pintrich & De Groot, 1990; Zimmerman & Martinez-Pons, 1990). Self-efficacy beliefs also have an effect on students' choices about whether or not to engage in similar, future activities (Sansone & Morgan, 1992). Students' beliefs or

expectations for successful achievement can be high or low depending on personal, behavioral, or environmental factors. For example, students who have high self-efficacy beliefs display persistence, even after they have received feedback indicating they are not performing well academically (Rosenthal & Zimmerman, 1978; Schunk, 1989).

Additionally, students with low self-efficacy beliefs are more likely to attribute any success they achieve to factors over which they have little or no control, such as luck, instead of something they can control, such as their own effort (Schunk, 1991). Empirical studies have consistently found a positive relationship between self-efficacy and good academic performance (Schunk, 1990), including a study of first-year law students who had high expectations about their ability to perform well in law school (Adams, 1991).

During prolonged periods of learning, students' self-efficacy may lead them to place differing value and importance on their goals for learning and students' intrinsic and extrinsic goals may fluctuate throughout the learning process. Thus, it becomes necessary for students to use inner resources to support their goal related activities and to regulate their behaviors, using such processes as self-discipline, self-control, and effort management (Snow, Corno, & Jackson, 1996; Pintrich & Garcia, 1993). The next section addresses one of the important regulatory processes that help students manage their learning environment.

Effort Management

Effort management is an important learning strategy because it is seen as the linking connection between motivation and cognition (Pintrich, 1993). Students' ability to succeed in the attainment of their academic goals often requires them to monitor,

evaluate, and reflect on their self-knowledge of their own learning processes. For example, students who are aware of their overall inclination toward distractions can monitor their study environment and make adjustments before distractions adversely affect the attainment of their goals. A key aspect of this self-management resource is the skill students have for coordinating cognitive strategies with the necessary amounts of effort. Students who are able to manage their own effort use their prior knowledge of their own learning successes and failures to anticipate and control potential learning hazards. For example, by considering the consequences of carelessness, procrastination, and mistakes, students can expend the effort necessary to manage their time resources, organize their schedule, or check their work for errors.

Students react to the information they receive from ever-changing environmental factors that impact their performance. Some students decrease their effort or persistence at learning because of unexpected negative feedback they receive about course performance. Other students are able to garner energy derived from emotions associated with negative feedback to invoke self-regulatory actions or strategies that increase positive goal-related cognitions and actions (Csikszentmihalyi & Csikszentmihalyi, 1988; Csikszentmihalyi & Nakamura., 1989, Turner & Schallert, 2001). Students also can prevent potential emotional interference in their learning by reminding themselves of their goals or making provisions to reward themselves for accomplishing certain learning tasks. These types of strategies, known as volitional self-regulatory actions, are ways students maintain and protect a learning environment that is conducive to the cognitive

activity they need to achieve their learning goals (Corno & Kanfer, 1993; Kuhl, 1985; Snow, et al., 1996; Turner, Husman, & Schallert, 2002).

Interestingly, another important characteristic of students who are both highly motivated and self-directed in their learning is the extent to which they find enjoyment in thinking deeply about a variety of issues. Individuals who have a penchant for thinking deeply are said to have a high need for cognition. The following section describes this construct and how it is related to student achievement.

Need for Cognition

Need for cognition, as a cognitive motivation, refers to an individual's consistent tendency to enjoy and engage in thinking (Cacioppo & Petty, 1982). When viewed as an information processing system, individuals can be distinguished by their need for cognition and the way they use information in integrative ways to understand complex situations. Cacioppo, Petty, Feinstein, and Jarvis (1996) stated that when individuals are high in need for cognition they are likely to "seek, acquire, think about, and reflect back on information to make sense of stimuli, relationships and events" (p. 198). By contrast, when individuals are low in need for cognition they are more likely to "rely on others (e.g., celebrities and experts), cognitive heuristics, or social comparison processes to provide ... structure" for their thinking (p. 198).

Research of a variety of problem-solving situations has demonstrated that individuals who indicate they have a high need for cognition also tend to generate complex attributions for human behavior (Fletcher, Danilovics, Fernandez, Person, & Reeder, 1986), are more curious (Olson, Camp, & Fuller, 1984), are more open to ideas, actions,

feelings, and values (Berzonsky & Sullivan, 1992), and are more thorough in their use of information sources to make decisions (Bailey, 1995), compared to those who indicate a low need for cognition.

Need for cognition has also been studied within educational contexts. For example, students who have high needs for cognition are more likely to consider issue-specific information and elaborative processing of information than students who have a low need for cognition (McDaniel & Lawrence, 1990; Sadowski, 1996). Additionally, students who enjoy effortful cognitive activities are more likely to spend time reflecting and seeking opportunities to think deeply about topics of interest (Nair, 2000). A few studies have shown a positive relationship between need for cognition and higher grades (Leone & Dalton, 1988; Sadowski & Gulgoz, 1992). However, and perhaps more importantly, the positive relationship between need for cognition and grades has been shown to be mediated by students' self-efficacy (Elias & Loomis, 2002) and elaborative processing of information (Sadowski, 1996).

Of particular interest to this dissertation study, need for cognition has also shown a positive relationship to the effective solving of complex problems, particularly in ill-structured domains (Nair, 2000). First year law students who have a high need for cognition may be more likely to condone epistemological beliefs that are more sophisticated and persist with the heavy cognitive demands of information than those students who are low in need for cognition.

One of the major ways that students' beliefs and motivations interact with their learning of content information is to influence how students approach their studying. The

following sections describe primarily international research on student approaches to learning.

Learning-Related Conceptions

Another related branch of research that originated in the United Kingdom and Australia has concentrated on students' conceptions of learning and the different approaches students adopt for particular learning tasks (Entwistle & Entwistle, 1992; Marton & Säljö, 1976). This research is based upon phenomenographic theory in which the meaning that an individual places upon an experience is the basis for gathering and interpreting findings. Thus, researchers in this area are more interested in describing the content of learning from the learner's point of view rather than through psychological or theoretical principles. Students' perspectives about learning include their conceptions of their learning efforts and tasks, the ways they attempt to accomplish specific tasks of learning, and their motivational stance or support for their learning activities (Bond & Le Brun, 1996; Keyes & Orr, 1996).

Marton and Säljö (1976) used the term *conception of learning* in their studies of how adults understood learning, and reported five different, increasingly complex conceptions: learning as increasing knowledge, memorizing (reproducing), acquiring facts (applying), abstracting meaning (understanding), and as interpreting procedures for understanding reality. The increasing or memorizing knowledge conceptions emphasize the quantitative aspects of learning such as the amount of knowledge gained or how many facts and pieces of information are accumulated. In these descriptions, knowledge is viewed as decontextualized and external to learners and can be collected, gathered,

stored, recalled, or retrieved (Biggs, 1996). Students who rely on these conceptions of knowledge can best be described as consumers of knowledge who take in, retrieve, and use knowledge as needed. These conceptions are associated with surface-level, very methodical processing focused on the information itself.

Studies about the application, understanding, and interpretation of learning conceptions emphasize the transformative nature of learning. These conceptions stress that knowledge is internal to learners and is focused on the change that occurs to learners as a result of interacting with the knowledge (Marton & Säljö, 1984). Students who hold these conceptions of learning talk about knowledge as it relates to them: their viewpoint, the meanings they grasp, or other possible perspectives that contrast with their own understandings. These conceptions of knowledge reflect deep-level, internalized, processing that is seeks the underlying meaning of the information (Biggs, 1978). *Orientations to Learning*

Researchers began using the term *orientation* to refer to an overarching compilation of approaches to learning, focuses or preferences for learning, and motivations for learning. Researchers found evidence for three primary orientations: a reproducing orientation, a meaning orientation, and an achieving orientation. Learners with a reproducing orientation have a surface approach to learning that is aimed at memorizing and reproducing information given by text (Kember, 1996) or lecture. Students are motivated to avoid failure and to achieve good results or academic success for the purpose of other long term goals such as obtaining a good job. Students with a meaning orientation have a deep approach to learning that is rooted in a desire primarily to

understand and gain meaning from their studies. These students are motivated by an intrinsic interest in the information itself. Students with an achieving orientation use a strategic approach to learning in which they make decisions among various study methods (e.g., surface and deep approaches) and study resources (e.g., using other exams to prepare for a test) in a competitive effort to perform better than others. In her study of law students' perspectives on the effectiveness of the teaching methods and the impact the various methods had upon their learning processes, Black (1997) also linked the students' responses to surface, deep, and achieving approaches and to extrinsic, intrinsic, or achievement motivations respectively. The learning strategies students used corresponded with their reported approaches and motivation: the surface, extrinsically motivated students used strategies to reproduce accurately the most essential details; the deep approach, intrinsically motivated students had a personal genuine interest in a topic and wanted to maximize understanding through reflection, discussion, and reading broadly; and the achievement oriented students used their desire for competing to optimize their ability to organize and use a variety of study skills to obtain the highest reward, in this case, grades.

Approaches to Learning

The ability for students to adapt their approaches to a learning task so that they may meet a salient internal or external goal is a critical nuance in the investigation of students' conceptions of learning. Kember and Gow (1994) found differences in students' approaches to learning according to the primary instructional method a department used. Results of their study generally indicated that students in departments with professors

who primarily used knowledge transmission, teacher-focused instructional techniques, used surface, extrinsically motivated approaches for studying. The departments in which the professors used student-focused learning facilitation instructional methods had a greater number of students who used deep, intrinsically motivated approaches for studying or highly organized study skills achievement related approaches for studying.

Entwistle and Ramsden (1983) additionally revealed the need to consider assessment requirements as another important aspect of approaches to learning for students. Their research revealed that students who have an achievement orientation are responsive to the assessment requirements that are placed upon them. As students who have a strategic goal of obtaining the highest possible grade, they employ deep or surface approaches to learning so they can acquire content knowledge in a competitive bid to pass examinations successfully. Students who primarily have a surface approach to learning are also very aware of the assessment requirements but they use learning strategies in an effort to avoid failure, meet the requirements of the course, and obtain their long term post-education goals. Students who primarily use deep approaches to learning are also keenly aware of assessment requirements but, almost as a byproduct of the actions they take to obtain a deep understanding of material they are interested in, they become prepared to meet the assessment requirements at a high level of achievement.

Entwistle and Entwistle's (1992) study of the nature of understanding was based upon college students' explanations and descriptions of their revisions of their final examinations. These researchers elicited students' responses concerning the meaning and experience of developing an understanding about their examination topics. Entwistle and

Entwistle found that students experienced understanding as an emotional feeling as well as a conceptual recognition of the completeness or "fit" of ideas that were not clear before. Students described understanding as feeling the satisfaction of insight, finding coherence among concepts or significance in meaning, developing confidence in explanations of complex material, and being flexible in their ability to modify or apply information. The students also spoke about their methods for developing their understanding. They used essentially deep approaches to learning: elaborative or organizational techniques, relating new information to previous knowledge or personal experience, and using a pre-developed or original structure to help provide a framework or context for learning and remembering. Entwistle and Entwistle also found that the students described different forms of understanding that derived from how students interacted with different sources of information and how they proceeded to develop a structure for them. This research demonstrated the value of obtaining students' explanations of their actions and motivations for pursuing meaningful understanding in their academic work.

Importance of Conceptions of Learning Research

Conceptions of learning research brings together consideration of beliefs, motivations, and strategies for learning. As such, it puts the perspective of the individual student at the forefront of examination. For example, Pratt (1992) interviewed adults from three different cultures about their understandings of teaching and developed a definition about the conceptions of teaching and learning from their responses that encompassed three interrelated components: actions, intentions, and beliefs. The action

part of conceptions about learning concerned what students do to learn and how they actually go about the process of learning. This is understandably, the most visible and evident part of conceptions. Intentions were the part of their explanations based upon their sense of purpose, responsibility, and goals for learning that denoted other psychological functions such as their motivation and affect for learning. The final and most abstract part of conceptions about learning were beliefs about learning and instruction. Beliefs, Pratt found, were often the most stable and least flexible aspect of a person's conceptions of teaching or learning.

Pratt's (1992) study suggests that conceptions of learning interweaves students' beliefs with their reasons and motivation for learning. An information processing approach to studying beliefs "focuses on the characteristics of learners, including not only self-beliefs, such as self-concept and self-efficacy, but also beliefs about the nature of intelligence, knowledge, and motivation" (Pajares,1992, p. 308). As students who have to manage their learning in an environment with many confounding influences upon them, first-year law students may derive some of their ability to perform their academic tasks from their motivations and goals for entering law school and learning law-related information. Motivational goals are integrally related to students' beliefs (Dweck & Leggett, 1988) as well as their capabilities for self-regulated learning and their use of cognitive learning strategies (Pintrich & De Groot, 1990; Zimmerman & Martinez-Pons, 1990).

Not many studies have examined the relationships among the approaches for learning and epistemological beliefs variables. Saunders, Cavalla, and Abraham (1999), for

example, examined the relationships among college science students' type of instructional experiences and their approaches to learning and epistemological beliefs.

These researchers used the rote (surface) and meaningful (deep) Approaches to Learning subscales and a science-based epistemological beliefs questionnaire they developed.

Saunders, Cavalla, and Abraham (1999) found a small relationship between rote approaches to learning and students' beliefs about science knowledge as it referred to students' tendency to believe that knowledge came from authority.

Several legal education studies have used the approaches to learning concepts with two or three of the levels of processing as a basis for qualitative examination of students' ways of learning in law school (e.g., Monahan, 1993; Keyes & Orr, 1996; Campbell, 1997). The studies based in Australia or Great Britain (e.g., Black, 1996, Bond & LeBrun, 1996) often involved younger students who were the age-equivalents of American undergraduate college students. None of these studies examined law students' approaches to learning orientations in conjunction with their epistemological beliefs, motivation, and need for cognition in an effort to understand students' conceptions of learning law.

Synthesis

"Even micro level cognitive processes are under the influence of contextual variables" (Garner, 1990, p. 523). The environment and social culture of law school can exert an important influence upon the epistemological beliefs of law students. There is a great deal of structure in law school and, although there may be room for individual expression of learning that diverges from the norm, the first year of law school is about

learning the system, and it is about learning to conform to the structure of instruction in law school (e.g., Nathanson, 1997).

Examining the law school learning environment also provides some insights into the context for understanding first-year law students' conceptions about learning, including their epistemological beliefs about learning, the motivations for learning, and their approaches to learning. First-year students' conceptions of learning are particularly well-suited for making sense of learning contexts because of their impact upon students' actions and achievement efforts. Advanced courses may allow more opportunity for students to recognize familiar features of classroom environment and use those perceptions to make the most effective decisions about learning and study strategies. But first-year courses do not often contain precisely defined learning objectives or established procedures for determining if learning has occurred. Consequently, first-year students have the opportunity to make many decisions about various aspects of their learning environment and their beliefs about learning and instruction help shape their choices (Schommer & Walker, 1995).

Students conceptions for learning in law school can help them make sense of instructional situations. This study provides the opportunity to examine novice learners who must manage their own learning in an ill-defined, complex field. An additional point of interest in the research is to consider what can be learned about the structure of epistemological beliefs and how that structure relates to students' motivation, assumptions of learning, and need for cognition.

Chapter 3: Methods

To investigate students' perceptions about their law school learning experiences, both quantitative and qualitative methodologies were used in this study. Direct assessment of beliefs is difficult because these types of cognitive structures are not directly observable and are not always easily accessible for study participants to discuss. Beliefs are highly contextualized, held unconsciously, hard to put into language, and highly personalized perceptions. Therefore, indirect methods such as extended interviews and stimulated recall have been found to be useful as a means of explicating these kinds of internal structures. However, this type of research is often time consuming and results in the use of fewer subjects. This study made use of both survey instruments and open-ended interviews to allow breadth in the number of students who could provide information needed for the research questions. First-year law students who completed a questionnaire packet provided information about the broad scope of students' conceptions about learning including their epistemological beliefs, assumptions about learning, motivation, and need for cognition. In order to ascertain how the students made sense of their learning environment and learning experiences, a small subset of participants was later interviewed about these conceptions and how they impacted their law school experience. **Participants**

At the time of the study at a public law school in the southwest with a student population of 1394 (45% women, 21% minority students), 468 students were in the entering class (Law School Admission Council, 1999). First-year law students were recruited from two classes of more than 100 students each. These students had completed

their mid-term examinations and were nearing the end of their first year of law school. At the end of one of their class sessions, students were given a brief verbal explanation of the purpose of the study, and given a questionnaire packet. The students were informed that if they chose to participate in the study, they were to complete the questionnaire packet and return it to a designated drop-box in the law school within two weeks. The students were assured that there would be no penalty or influence upon their grade if they chose not to participate in the study. Students were encouraged to participate in the study in order to help provide information that would potentially benefit the first-year learning experience of future law students. They were given periodic reminders of the project by a notice posted in the class during the two weeks.

Fifty-eight students completed the questionnaire packet, 27 from one course, 29 from a second course, with two additional first-year students from other courses agreeing to participate in the study. Most of the students who responded were women (60%), white (86%), and between 21 and 29 years of age (81%). The law school Most of the students who responded had completed their undergraduate degrees within the three years prior to entering law school (53%) and most had been liberal arts majors (62%). Two students reported that they had earned a Ph.D., nine had earned a master's degree, and three had earned an education certificate.

Table 1
Demographic Descriptions
Number and Percentage of First Year Law Student Participants

| Gender | | | | Ethnicity | | | | |
|---------------|--------|-------|---------|------------------|--------|----|---|-----|
| Male | 23 | 4 | White | | | 50 | 8 | 6% |
| Female | 35 | 6 | 0% | African Amer | ican | 2 | | 3% |
| | | | | Hispanic | | 1 | | 5% |
| | | | | Asian | | 5 | | 9% |
| Age | | | | Age | | | | |
| 21-23 yrs. | | 24 | 42% | 33-35 yrs. | 3 | 5% | | |
| 24-26 yrs. | | 17 | 29% | 36-38 yrs. | 2 | 3% | | |
| 27-29 yrs. | | 6 | 10% | 45-49 yrs. 1 | | 2% | | |
| 30-32 yrs. | | 4 | 7% | | | | | |
| Years Since (| Colleg | e Gra | duation | Undergradua | te Maj | or | | |
| 1-3 yrs. | | 28 | 53% | Business | | | 4 | 7% |
| 4-6 yrs. | | 11 | 21% | Communica | tion | | 7 | 12% |
| 7-9 yrs. | | 7 | 13% | Engineering | | | 4 | 7% |
| 10-12 yrs. | | 2 | 4% | Fine Arts | | | 2 | 3% |
| 13-15 yrs. | | 3 | 6% | Liberal Arts | | 3 | 6 | 62% |
| 16-20 yrs. | | 1 | 2% | Natural Sciences | | | 5 | 9% |
| >20 yrs. | | 1 | 2% | | | | | |

Data Collection Materials

The questionnaire packet consisted of survey instruments that were used to assess first-year law students' epistemological beliefs, motivation, and approaches to learning. The first page of the packet was designed to gather background information about the students: age, gender, race/ethnicity, and academic history. Students also answered questions about their grade expectations and academic and legal career goals. The second part of the questionnaire packet consisted of four questionnaires containing epistemological belief items, motivation for learning items, assumptions about learning items, and a need for cognition scale.

Epistemological beliefs. The epistemological beliefs questionnaire consisted of 50 items and was adapted from Schommer's (1990) epistemological beliefs framework of five dimensions: Omniscient Authority, Simple Knowledge, Certainty of Knowledge, Quick Learning, and Innate Ability. The questionnaire consisted of Likert-type items that were rated on a 7-point scale with responses ranging from 1 ("Strongly Disagree") to 5 ("Strongly Agree"). The five dimension subscales evaluated students' beliefs about the source and nature of knowledge. Stated from the naive perspective, these included statements about knowledge as determined and distributed by authorities and experts (omniscient authority), knowledge as consisting of simple, discrete facts (simple knowledge), knowledge as absolute facts that are or can be known (certainty of knowledge), learning as occurring quickly or not at all (quick learning), and learning as an ability to acquire knowledge that is determined at birth (innate knowledge) (Jehng, Johnson & Anderson, 1993; Schraw, 2001).

Scale reliabilities for the Epistemological Beliefs Questionnaire were calculated to determine the internal consistency of each scale and to aid in producing a coherent measurement of the cluster groups. The initial reliability of several of the epistemological beliefs subscales was low (i.e., below .50), therefore the construction of the scale was reexamined. Each statement that made up a dimension subscale was analyzed using Cronbach's reliability measure (Cronbach, 1951) to examine the correlation between the statement and both the subscale and overall scores. Seven out of the original 50 statements had correlations lower than .10 and were deemed unreliable and eliminated from their respective subscales. The reliabilities of the subscales were recalculated. The

five dimension subscales reliabilities ranged between .50 and .74. The total reliability of the 43 items for the scales reached .83. Table 2 lists sample items and the reliabilities for each of the subscales in the epistemological beliefs questionnaire.

Table 2 Summary of Scales and Sample Items for Epistemological Beliefs Questionnaire Items

EPISTEMOLOGICAL BELIEFS QUESTIONNAIRE (.83)

- *A. Omniscient Authority* (7 items, alpha = .50)
 - I can believe most things I read in a textbook.
 - How much a person gets out of school mostly depends on the quality of the professors.
- B. Simple Learning (14 items, alpha = .74)
 - When I learn, I prefer to make things as simple as possible and avoid looking for different explanations for the same thing.
 - Being a good student generally involves memorizing a lot of facts.
- C. Certainty of Knowledge (8 items, alpha = .63)
 - I prefer that professors stick to more concrete examples and do less theorizing. I dislike working on problems which have no clear-cut answers.
- D. Quick Learning (6 items, alpha = .54)
 - If a person cannot understand something within a short amount of time, it is often unnecessary to keep on trying.
 - Understanding something is not a process which takes a long time or is complicated.
- E. Innate Ability (8 items, alpha = .55)

An expert is someone who has a special gift for a particular field.

Sometimes I feel that I lack the talent to do well in school.

Motivation for learning. The second questionnaire consisted of 18 items from the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ, Pintrich, Smith, Garcia, & McKeachie, 1991). The original instrument was developed to assess students' general

motivation in academic situations. Three subscales were selected from the motivation section of the MSLQ: intrinsic goal orientation (4 items), extrinsic goal orientation (4 items), and self-efficacy for learning and performance (6 items). From the learning strategy category of the MSLQ, the self-regulation resource control strategy of effort management (4 items) was used. These items were answered on a 7-point Likert scale ("not at all true of me" to "very true of me"). The subscales assessed students' goals for a course (intrinsic goal orientation and extrinsic goal orientation), their beliefs about their expectancy to succeed in a course (self-efficacy for learning and performance), and their ability to apply the appropriate amount of energy to their study endeavors (effort management).

Alpha coefficient reliabilities for the four MSLQ subscales ranged from .61 to .93. Table 3 displays subscale sample items and alpha coefficients.

Table 3 Summary of Scales and Sample Items for Motivation Questionnaire Items

MOTIVATED STRATEGIES FOR LEARNING QUESTIONNAIRE

- A. Intrinsic Goal Orientation (4 items, alpha = .68)
 In this class, I prefer course material that really challenges me so I can learn new things.
 I prefer course material that arouses my curiosity, even if it is difficult to learn.
- B. Extrinsic Goal Orientation (4 items, alpha = .77)
 If I can, I want to get better grades in this class than most of the other students.
 I want to do well in this class because it is important to show my ability to my family, friends, employer, or others.
- C. Self Efficacy (Expectancy for Success) (6 items, alpha = .93)
 I'm confident I can learn the basic concepts taught in this class.
 I'm confident I can do an excellent job on the assignments and tests in this course.
- D. Effort Management (4 items, alpha = .61)
 I often feel so lazy or bored when I study for class that I quit before I finish what I planned to do.
 Even when course materials are dull and uninteresting, I manage to keep working until I finish.

Approaches to learning. Fourteen items from the Approaches to Learning Inventory (Entwistle & Tait, 1990) were also included in the questionnaire. The items consisted of three subscales: deep and surface approaches to learning and achievement motivation. Students responded to these items on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." The surface approach to learning items (6 items) tested for a reproducing orientation with which students tend to rely on memorization and other strategies to reproduce information that is to be known. The deep approach to learning (4 items) assessed a meaning orientation in which students tend to use learning methods that support their efforts to find meaning by relating or reformulating information. The

achievement motivation items (4 items) reflect a strategic preference for using both deep and surface approaches to learning in a competitive way that maximizes accomplishment of overall goals.

Scale reliabilities are reflected in alpha coefficients ranging from .56 to .63. Table 4 displays subscale sample items and alpha coefficients.

Table 4 Summary of Scales and Sample Items for the Approaches to Learning Questionnaire Items

ASSUMPTIONS ABOUT LEARNING INVENTORY

- A. Surface Approaches (6 items, alpha = .68)
 Professors seem to delight in making the simple truth unnecessarily complicated.
 The best way for me to understand what technical terms mean is to remember text-book definitions.
- B. Deep Approaches (4 items, alpha = .56)
 I often find myself questioning things that I hear in lectures or read in books.
 When I'm tackling a new topic, I often ask myself questions about it which the new information should answer.
- C. Achievement Motivation (4 items, alpha = .63)
 I enjoy competition; I find it stimulating.
 I hate admitting defeat, even in trivial matters.

Need for cognition. A short form of the Need for Cognition Scale (Cacioppo, Petty & Kao, 1984) was also included in the questionnaire packet. Participants indicated their level of agreement or disagreement with each of the 18 Likert-type items ranging on a 9-point scale from "very strongly disagree" to "very strongly agree." Higher scores are

indicative of a greater need for cognition. The reliability of the scale items with this sample of students equaled the reliability determined by the authors of .90.

Table 5
Summary of Sample Items for the Need for Cognition Scale

NEED FOR COGNITION SCALE (18 items, alpha = .90)

- I would rather do something that requires little thought than something that is sure to challenge my thinking abilities.
- The notion of thinking abstractly is appealing to me.
- I usually end up deliberating about issues even when they do not affect me personally.

Interview Format and Participants

Near the end of their final year of law school, twelve law students who had completed the questionnaire packet in their first year of law school were asked to participate in brief interviews about their conceptions of learning and instruction, their approaches to studying, their motivations for learning, and their understanding of how the law school learning environment had affected their decisions and efforts to become a lawyer. Four students agreed to be interviewed and participated in 30-45 minute interviews that were audio-recorded. Two interviews were conducted by telephone and two were in-person interviews that took place at the law school. The interviews were conducted without an awareness of what became the students' cluster group placement as I will explain in the next chapter.

During the interview, students were reminded of their participation in the first-year study and given a brief explanation of the focus and purpose of the study. A protocol of three general questions was developed for students to respond to in a semi-structured interview format. Interview questions were designed to elicit students' conceptions of learning and to allow participants to explain how their law school experiences had influenced their motivations, beliefs, and actions. Follow-up questions were used to prompt, clarify, or further explore their responses. Students were then asked to describe themselves as learners throughout their law school experiences from the first year to the present. They were prompted to discuss grades, knowledge and study strategies, motivation and goals, and the importance of all these academic aspects to their eventual legal career. Students were also asked to describe their view of themselves as a lawyer from the first year to the present, focusing on how this view related to their aspirations for becoming a lawyer, their grades, employability, and learning efforts. Finally, students were asked to talk about how they would advise new students beginning law school about their learning tasks and how they would grow in thinking about themselves becoming a lawyer.

Interviews were transcribed and coded for statements related to students' conceptions of learning: their beliefs about knowledge and instruction, their motivations for learning, and their approaches to studying. Additionally, information pertaining to students' response to the learning environment, to the way they managed their learning and studying, and to their reasons for the choices they made during law school were categorized. During the interviews, students had also reflected on their thoughts,

attitudes, and feelings about becoming a lawyer. These statements and their advice to new law students were also organized.

The students were then identified by cluster group with each of the three groups represented by at least one of the interviewees. Students' interviews were examined with the goal of understanding how their statements further illuminated as well as resisted each category. These interviews were not subjected to a full qualitative data analysis which would have been warranted with a larger number of interviews or a more in-depth case study approach. A full qualitative analytic approach would require coding, sorting, and examining the data for patterns and themes (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Instead, these interview descriptions were repeatedly read, revised, and examined with two other researchers until all were satisfied that the descriptions provided a rich detailed description of the students' experiences.

Chapter 4: Results

The results of this study are organized into two major sections. The first section details the quantitative data through: (1) a descriptive analysis of the epistemological beliefs, motivation, approaches to learning, and need for cognition of the first-year law students participating in the study; (2) a correlational analysis of the relationships among these same four data sources; and (3) a cluster analysis of the interactive or combined relationships among the four components. These analyses were used to provide information about whether first-year law students could be appreciably differentiated from each other based on these types of instruments and, if so, what the relationships among the data tell us about these advanced students.

The second section of this chapter summarizes the interviews of three students chosen because they represented each of the clusters from the cluster analysis. Conducted at the end of law school, these interview responses provide information about students' perceptions of their law school learning experiences and environment and how those perceptions influenced them as they proceeded through law school and worked toward their goals of becoming members of the legal community.

Quantitative Analyses

Descriptive Analysis of First-Year Law Students' Survey Responses

Students responded to four survey instruments in their questionnaire packet. First, I discuss the means and standard deviations of the student responses to the epistemological beliefs questionnaire selectively to provide a picture of how the participants responded overall and then according to gender and age groups.

Epistemological beliefs. The first questionnaire consisted of items for five dimensions of epistemological beliefs based on Schommer's work (1990, 1994) about the nature of learning and knowledge. Responses were first summed to yield a single overall score for each participant. Students' overall epistemological belief scores ranged from 73 to 186, with a median score of 135, on a scale that ranged from 43 to 301, with low scores representing the more sophisticated beliefs about the nature of learning and knowledge and high scores representing the less sophisticated (more naive) beliefs. Similar to a sample of advanced students in another study (Schallert, Harris, Lissi, & Turner, 1997), this group of first-year law students' epistemological beliefs total scores were mostly represented in the lower half of the total possible range of scores. All but two scores were situated in the lower half of the scale (i.e., below 178) indicating that although there is a variation in scores, this sample of students as a whole tended to be more sophisticated (more relativistic) in their beliefs about knowledge and learning. Following the convention established in Schallert, et al. (1997), and to facilitate the differentiation between the students in this study, I will refer to the students as more relativistic (scores below the mean of 135) or less relativistic (scores above the mean of 135) in their epistemological beliefs, acknowledging that even the less relativistic students were sophisticated in terms of absolute scores.

For the next step in the analysis of the epistemological beliefs survey, means were calculated across all students' responses to the individual subscales that make up the epistemological beliefs survey: omniscient authority, simple knowledge, certainty of knowledge, quick learning, and innate ability. High scores indicated a less relativistic

view of learning while low scores indicated a more relativistic view of learning. In other words, a student who agreed with statements that, for example, favored a belief that knowledge is unchanging and certain, scored high in the certainty of knowledge dimension. A student who scored low on these same items tended to view knowledge as a changeable, more disputable part of learning. Although these dimensions show some variation and range in the lower half of the epistemological beliefs total scores, Table 6 indicates there was no appreciable difference between the means in the students' scores when they were categorized by age or gender.

Table 6
Means of Epistemological Beliefs Subscales by Gender and Age

| | Gender | | A | Age | |
|---------------------------|--------|--------|------------|------------|-----|
| | Male | Female | 21-24 yrs. | 25-49 yrs. | |
| | (N=23) | (N=35) | (N=28) | (N=30) | |
| 1. Omniscient Authority | 3.6 | 3.5 | 3.6 | 3.4 | 3.5 |
| 2. Simple Knowledge | 3.1 | 3.1 | 3.2 | 2.9 | 3.1 |
| 3. Certainty of Knowledge | 3.1 | 3.0 | 3.2 | 2.9 | 3.1 |
| 4. Quick Learning | 3.0 | 2.6 | 2.6 | 2.9 | 2.7 |
| 5. Innate Ability | 3.2 | 3.0 | 3.1 | 3.1 | 3.1 |

When considering the participants' field of undergraduate study, however, there were some interesting differences between the groups (see Table 7). For example, students who had majored in engineering as undergraduates had a higher mean for simple knowledge and students who had majored in natural sciences had a higher mean for innate ability than any of the other groups. The fine arts group had only two participants but their responses for the Certainty of Knowledge subscale were appreciably below

other majors, and as might be expected for students who are developing their artistic abilities, one of the higher means for innate ability.

Table 7
Means of Epistemological Beliefs Subscales by Major

| | Bus. | Com. | Eng. | F. Arts | L. Arts | N. Sci. | Tot. |
|---------------------------|------|------|------|---------|---------|---------|------|
| | N=4 | N=7 | N=4 | N=2 | N = 36 | N=5 | N=58 |
| 1. Omniscient Authority | 3.1 | 3.6 | 3.4 | 2.4 | 3.6 | 3.6 | 3.5 |
| 2. Simple Knowledge | 2.8 | 3.3 | 3.7 | 2.0 | 3.0 | 3.2 | 3.1 |
| 3. Certainty of Knowledge | 3.6 | 3.3 | 3.5 | 1.8 | 3.0 | 3.3 | 3.1 |
| 4. Quick Learning | 2.6 | 2.6 | 2.9 | 1.9 | 2.8 | 2.8 | 2.7 |
| 5. Innate Ability | 3.2 | 2.9 | 2.1 | 3.6 | 3.1 | 3.8 | 3.1 |

Compared to a study that examined the epistemological beliefs of undergraduate and graduate students (Jehng, Johnson, & Anderson, 1993), the subscale means from this sample of first-year law students were higher than the graduate student group, showing that in all the dimensions these first-year law students tended to be less relativistic in their beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning than students in the graduate student sample. As students in their first year of studies after their undergraduate work, these students may be more similar to upper division undergraduate students than the experienced graduate students who were sampled. Table 8 shows that, like the graduate students in Jehng's study, law students have a strong belief that knowledge is not a quick or simple, orderly process.

Table 8
Comparison of Mean Scores and Standard Deviations
for the Epistemological Beliefs Dimensions

| | Graduate Students (Jehng, et. al) (n = 95) | First-Year Law Students (n = 58) |
|-----------------------------------|--|----------------------------------|
| Omniscient Authority | 2.3 (.78) | 3.5 (.77) |
| Orderly Process/Simple Knowledge* | 3.0 (.78) | 3.1 (.74) |
| Certainty of Knowledge | 2.3 (.95) | 3.1 (.86) |
| Quick Learning | 1.7 (.85) | 2.7 (.77) |
| Innate Ability | 2.0 (.88) | 3.1 (.82) |

^{*}Simple Knowledge was replaced with Orderly Process in Jehng study. The scores in the Jehng study shown here were adjusted to match the direction of the scale used in this study.

Motivation, approaches to learning, and need for cognition. The means and standard deviations for student responses to the motivation, approaches to learning, and need for cognition surveys were also calculated and are reported in Table 9. Mean responses for the motivation variables ranged from 4.9 for the intrinsic and extrinsic goal orientations to 5.3 for self-efficacy and effort management. The results indicated that the means for the approaches to learning variables, which ranged from 3.7 to 5.1, were lower for surface approaches to learning, as might be expected for experienced law students. The need for cognition scale mean was 7.0 and indicated that the participants generally enjoyed engaging in effortful cognitive activity.

Table 9
Comparison of Mean Scores and Standard Deviations for
Motivational Goals, Approaches to Learning, and Need for Cognition

| | n | Mean | SD |
|--------------------------|----|------|--------|
| Motivational Variables | | | |
| Intrinsic Goals | 58 | 4.9 | (.93) |
| Extrinsic Goals | 58 | 4.9 | (1.40) |
| Self Efficacy | 58 | 5.3 | (1.23) |
| Effort Management | 58 | 5.3 | (1.02) |
| Approaches to Learning | | | |
| Surface Approach | 57 | 3.7 | (.99) |
| Deep Approach | 57 | 5.1 | (.83) |
| Achievement Motivation | 57 | 4.9 | (1.09) |
| Need for Cognition Scale | 58 | 7.0 | (1.10) |

Note. SD=standard deviation. Motivational Items were rated on a 7-point scale: 7=Very Much Like Me, 1=Not at all Like Me. Approaches to Learning Items were rated on a 7-point scale: 7=Strongly Agree, 1=Strongly Disagree. Need for Cognition Scale Items were rated on a 9-point scale: 9=Extremely, 1=Not at All.

Correlational Analysis

Following a description and summary of the items and subscales of the questionnaire data, the next step was to examine the relationships among the various subscales of the epistemological beliefs, motivation, assumptions of learning, and need for cognition surveys. First, the relationships among subscales in each individual survey will be discussed and then the relationships across surveys will be discussed.

Epistemological beliefs subscales. Correlations were computed among the epistemological beliefs survey subscales. As Table 10 indicates, the two highest correlations were between Simple Knowledge and Certainty of Knowledge (r=.62, p<.001) and Simple Knowledge and Omniscient Authority (r=.49, p<.001). This finding is consistent with research indicating that students who tend to believe knowledge is best

understood as simple, isolated facts are the same ones who rely more on authorities to give them the knowledge they need and believe that knowledge does not change a great deal over time (Jehng, 1993; Schommer, 1993).

Other subscales that were moderately correlated included Quick Learning and Innate Ability (r=.28, p<.05), Omniscient Authority and Certainty of Knowledge (r=.34, p<.01), and Omniscient Authority and Quick Learning (r=.35, p<.01). Schommer (1993) found that students who believed in quick learning tended to jump to conclusions and had an overconfidence in their understanding of what they were trying to learn.

These results show that students who indicated that they believed that learning is simple also tended to believe that knowledge comes from authority and that knowledge is certain. Students who indicated they believed that learning should come quickly or it will not come at all also tended to believe that knowledge is given by authorities or is determined by a person's innate capabilities. There was also a correlation between believing that some people have a natural ability to understand and manage large quantities of information and the belief that learning comes quickly and easily for such students.

Table 10 Correlations of Epistemological Beliefs Subscales

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
|---------------------------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| 1. Omniscient Authority | | | | | |
| 2. Simple Knowledge | .49*** | | | | |
| 3. Certainty of Knowledge | .34** | .62*** | | | |
| 4. Quick Learning | .35** | .43** | .31* | | |
| 5. Innate Ability | .28* | .10 | .15 | .28* | |
| 6. Scale Total | .69*** | .83*** | .74*** | .64*** | .47*** |

Note: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

Motivation subscales. Correlations were computed for the four subscales from the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ). As Table 11 displays, the Intrinsic Goals and Self Efficacy subscales were moderately correlated (r=.35, p<.01). The Effort Management subscale was also moderately correlated with the Intrinsic Goals (r=.30, p<.05) and Self Efficacy (r=.32, p<.05) subscales.

These results indicated that law students who endorsed an intrinsic value in learning also tended to expect they would be successful in their legal studies. Students who indicated that they were able to manage their effort to persist with their learning goals even when it is not easy were also students who found learning interesting and expected to succeed in their studies.

Table 11 Correlations of Motivation Subscales

| | 1 | 2 | 3 |
|-------------------------------|-------|-----|------|
| 1. Intrinsic Goal Orientation | | | |
| 2. Extrinsic Goal Orientation | 06 | | |
| 3. Self Efficacy | .35** | .21 | |
| 4. Effort Management | .30* | .10 | .32* |

Note: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

Assumptions about learning inventory subscales. Correlations were also computed for the three subscales from the Assumptions About Learning Inventory. Table 12 shows the only significant correlation was between the surface approach and deep approach to learning (r=-.34, p<.01). This moderate correlation shows that a negative relationship

existed between these two variables such that students who indicated they primarily used a surface approach to learning and studying also tended not to use a deep approach to learning, and vice-versa. This is consistent with the definition of the two approaches because students who use a deep approach tend to be more intrinsically interested in the subject and strive to find meaning, while those with a surface approach tend to want to avoid failing and rely on various means of reproducing information to structure and learn information for assessment.

Table 12 Correlations of Approaches to Learning Subscales

| | 1 | 2 |
|---------------------------|------|-----|
| 1. Surface Approach | | |
| 2. Deep Approach | 34** | |
| 3. Achievement Motivation | .11 | .13 |
| 37 | | |

Note: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

Correlations across surveys: Epistemological beliefs and motivation. A look at epistemological beliefs and the motivation subscales revealed some interesting relationships (see Table 13). The strongest correlations were between the epistemological beliefs dimensions and the intrinsic goal orientation and extrinsic goal orientation subscales from the MSLQ. The Intrinsic Goal Orientation subscale was negatively correlated with the Simple Knowledge (r=-.44, p<.001) and Certainty of Knowledge (r=-.28, p<.05) subscales. The higher first-year law students rated themselves on the intrinsic motivation subscale, the less likely they were to believe that knowledge is simple and certain. On the other hand, the correlations also show that students who are motivated by

external goals or rewards tended to believe they derived their knowledge from authorities and were more likely to view knowledge as simple and certain. The Extrinsic Goal Orientation subscale showed moderate correlation with Omniscient Authority (r=.39, p<0.01), Certainty of Knowledge (r=.31, p<0.05), and Simple Knowledge (r=.26, p<0.05). There was also a notable moderate negative correlation between Effort Management and Quick Learning subscales (r=-.26, p<0.05), showing that the more students managed their effort for learning the less likely they were to believe that learning must occur quickly or it will not occur at all.

Table 13 Correlations of Epistemological Beliefs and Motivation Subscales

| | Intrinsic | Extrinsic | Self | Effort |
|-------------------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|------------|
| | Goal | Goal | Efficacy | Management |
| 1. Omniscient Authority | 02 | .39** | 07 | .17 |
| 2. Simple Knowledge | 44*** | .26* | 09 | 01 |
| 3. Certainty of Knowledge | 28* | .31* | .00 | .03 |
| 4. Quick Learning | 07 | .20 | 03 | 26* |
| 5. Innate Ability | .01 | .07 | 18 | 17 |
| 6. Epist. Beliefs Scale Total | 29* | .35** | 11 | 06 |

Note: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

Correlations across surveys: motivation, approaches to learning, need for cognition, and grades. Next, I examined the correlations among the motivation subscales, approaches to learning subscales, need for cognition scale, and grades, and found interesting relationships. As shown in Table 14, very strong correlations existed between intrinsic goal orientation and need for cognition (r=.73, p<.001) as well as intrinsic goal orientation and deep approaches to learning (r=.60, p<.001). The higher first-year law students rated themselves on the intrinsic motivation subscale the more likely they were

to have a propensity for thinking deeply and using deep approaches to learning. Conversely, the higher first-year law students rated themselves on the extrinsic motivation subscale, the more likely they were to endorse having a high achievement motivation (r=.59, p<.001), and the more likely they were to have a tendency to use surface approaches to learning (r=.36, p<.01).

Interestingly, students who had high expectations for success (i.e., high self-efficacy) also tended to have high achievement motivation (r = .46, p<.001), a fairly high need for cognition (r = .37, p<.01), and obtained high grades in the course they were taking at the time of the study (r=.42, p<.001, for mid-term course grades, and r = .36, p<.01, for final course grades). Additionally, there were moderate correlations between effort management and deep approaches to learning (r = .31, p<.05) and effort management and final grades for the course (r = .29, p<.05). Students who were able to regulate their effort (i.e., high effort management) were more likely to use deep approaches and, perhaps consequently, achieved a higher final grade for this course.

Table 14
Correlations of Motivation Subscales, Approaches to Learning,
Need for Cognition, and Grades

| | Intrinsic | Extrinsic | Self | Effort |
|---------------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|------------|
| | Goal | Goal | Efficacy | Management |
| 1. Surface Approaches | 38** | .36** | 17 | 10 |
| 2. Deep Approaches | .60*** | 10 | .33* | .31* |
| 3. Achievement Motivation | .15 | .59*** | .46*** | .03 |
| 4. Need for Cognition | .73*** | 05 | .37** | .04 |
| 5. Mid Term Grade | .08 | .20 | .42*** | .23 |
| 6. Final Grade | .22 | .24 | .36** | .29* |

Note: p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

Correlations across surveys: approaches to learning, need for cognition and course grades. Table 15 displays the correlations among the approaches to learning subscales, the need for cognition scale, and course grades. Consistent with the previous correlations, students who had inclinations for a high need for cognition also tended to use deep approaches to learning (r=.55, p<.001) and tended not to use surface approaches to learning (r=-.44, p<.001). Need for cognition showed no relationship to achievement motivation; however, a small, but significant relationship existed between students' achievement motivation and their final course grade (r=.28, p<.05).

Table 15 Correlations of Approaches to Learning Subscales, Need for Cognition, and Course Grades

| | Surface Approaches | Deep Approaches | Achievement Motivation |
|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|------------------------|
| 1. Need for Cognition | 44*** | .58*** | .13 |
| 2. Mid Term Grade | 06 | .00 | .16 |
| 3. Final Grade | 12 | .14 | .28* |

Note: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

Correlations across surveys: epistemological beliefs, motivation, approaches to learning, need for cognition, and course grades. The final correlational analysis included the epistemological beliefs subscales, the motivation subscales, approaches to learning subscales, the need for cognition scale, and students' course grades. The primary impetus for this analysis was investigating the relationships among the epistemological beliefs subscales and the other variables. Simple learning and certainty of knowledge were highly, negatively correlated with need for cognition (respectively, r=-.59, p<.001, and

r=-.55, p<.001) and intrinsic goal orientation (respectively, r=-.44, p<.001, and r=-.28, p<.05), and were positively correlated with surface approaches to learning (respectively, r=.51, p<.001, and r=.39, p<.01). Additionally, students who endorsed a belief in omniscient authority of knowledge also tended to have extrinsic goals for learning (r=.39, p<.001).

The only correlation with quick learning was a slight, negative correlation with effort management (r=-.26, p<.05). This correlation is not surprising, given that as noted earlier, these first-year law school students as a whole gave fairly low ratings for the belief that learning should occur quickly or else it will not occur at all. It may be assumed that these students did not believe that learning law-related information would happen quickly. Interestingly, there were no correlations among innate ability beliefs and the other variables as well as between students' beliefs and their course grades.

Table 16 Correlations of Epistemological Beliefs, Motivation, Approaches to Learning, Need for Cognition, and Course Grades

| | OA | SL | CK | QL | IA | EB T |
|---------------------------|-------|--------|-------|-----|-----|--------|
| 1. Intrinsic Goal | 02 | 44*** | 28* | 07 | .01 | 29* |
| 2. Extrinsic Goal | .39** | .26* | .31* | .20 | .07 | .35** |
| 3. Self Efficacy | 07 | 09 | .00 | 03 | 18 | 11 |
| 4. Effort Management | .17 | 01 | .03 | 26* | 17 | 06 |
| 5. Surface Approach | .29* | .51*** | .39** | .16 | .16 | .48*** |
| 6. Deep Approach | 18 | 40** | 31* | 18 | 08 | 37** |
| 7. Achievement Motivation | .32* | .16 | .22 | .25 | .19 | .31* |
| 8. Need for Cognition | 23 | 59*** | 55*** | 15 | 06 | 52*** |
| 9. Mid-Term Grade | .21 | 10 | 08 | .07 | 04 | 02 |
| 10. Final Grade | .21 | 15 | 06 | 05 | 06 | 04 |

Note: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001. OA=Omniscient Authority, SL=Simple Learning, CK=Certainty of Knowledge, QL=Quick Learning, IA=Innate Ability, and EBT=Epistemological Beliefs Total.

Cluster Analysis

A cluster analysis was performed to examine patterns of individual differences based upon students' self-ratings with respect to their epistemological beliefs variables (omniscient authority, simple knowledge, certainty of knowledge, quick learning, and innate ability). Cluster analysis is a statistical method that systematically and mathematically places individuals into groups "in space" according to similar ratings on more than one variable. The analysis produces groupings in which individuals are most similar within the group and most dissimilar to individuals in the other groups.

Cluster means were derived by using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) quick cluster program. The appropriate cluster solution was based on parsimony and significant differences between the cluster group vectors on the subscales used to create the cluster groups. A three-cluster solution demonstrated significant multivariate differences between cluster groups. Table 17 displays the means, p values, and post hoc comparison of means for each clustering variable across the student cluster groups.

Table 17
Cluster Group Means on Epistemological Beliefs Subscales

| | Cluster 1 | Cluster 2 | Cluster 3 | |
|------------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------|-----------------|
| | (n=28) | (n=15) | (n=15) | |
| Omniscient Authority | 3.8 _a | 3.6 _a | 2.8_{b} | <i>p</i> < .001 |
| Simple Knowledge | 3.6_a | $2.9_{\rm b}$ | $2.3_{\rm c}$ | p < .001 |
| Certainty of Knowledge | $3.7_{\rm a}$ | $3.0_{\rm b}$ | $2.1_{\rm c}$ | p < .001 |
| Quick Learning | $3.0_{\rm a}$ | 2.7 | $2.3_{\rm b}$ | p < .01 |
| Innate Ability | 3.0_a | 3.8 _b | 2.6_a | p < .001 |

Note: Means with different subscripts are significantly different at the .05 level.

The data analysis showed interesting group typologies of the students based on the patterns from the epistemological belief variables. The largest number of students (n=28) made up the first cluster group reporting the highest average means for four of the five dimensions. For this group of first-year law students, these students are best described as the less relativistic in their beliefs about learning and knowledge. These students' responses indicated that they were higher in tendencies to believe that the source of knowledge comes from an authority, that knowledge is simple and certain, and that learning occurs quickly or not at all. This same group was also more moderate in their belief that knowledge can be attained by other means than innate giftedness.

The second cluster (n=15) can be primarily characterized as a moderate, middle-of-the-road group because three of their subscale scores were between the less relativistic and more relativistic groups. This group of students was most distinctive in their beliefs about innate ability because they were the less relativistic relative to the other two clusters in their beliefs about the inherent nature of human knowledge capacity. The students also shared with the first cluster group of students a tendency to believe that their source of knowledge came from authorities or experts.

The third cluster group (n=15) consistently scored the lowest on all five of the dimensions. This group of students can be characterized as being the more relativistic students who viewed knowledge as malleable, uncertain, coming from a variety of sources, not necessarily quickly attained, and not based solely upon native ability for knowledge. Table 18 displays the student cluster groups are identified as:

Table 18 Cluster Group Description

Cluster 1 (n=28) Less Relativistic Overall

High: Omniscient Authority, Simple Knowledge, Certainty Of

Knowledge, and Quick Learning

Mod: Innate Ability

Cluster 2 (n=15) Moderately Relativistic Overall

High: Innate Ability, Omniscient Authority

Mod: Simple Knowledge, Certainty Of Knowledge, and Quick

Learning

Cluster 3 (n=15) More Relativistic Overall

Low: Omniscient Authority, Simple Knowledge, Certainty Of

Knowledge, and Quick Learning, and Innate Ability

The next analysis was conducted in order to determine whether there were any significant differences between the cluster groups in their epistemological beliefs. MANOVA results indicated that there was an overall significant effect for the independent variable, Wilks Lambda = .18 (10, 102), p<.001. Separate univariate ANOVAS were performed as F tests in order to explain further how the cluster groups differed from one another. Significant differences were found for omniscient authority (F(2,55)=11.68, p<.001), simple learning (F(2,55)=34.16, p<.001), certainty of knowledge (F(2,55)=38.35, p<.001), innate ability (F(2,55)=12.23, p<.001), and quick learning (F(2,55)=4.58, p<.01).

In order to test further the validity of the three cluster-group solution, the three groups were compared on validating measures that were not included in the original cluster analysis. In fact, this is required as part of a cluster analysis. The student cluster groups

were tested for differences on the motivation, approaches to learning, and need for cognition variables. Table 19 summarizes the results and displays the means for each cluster group and the *p* values associated with the individual ANOVAs. Post hoc comparison of mean differences were calculated and are displayed in the table.

Table 19
Cluster Group Means on
Motivation, Approaches to Learning, & Need for Cognition Variables

| | Cluster 1 (n=28) Less Rel. | Cluster 2 (n=15) Mod. Rel. | Cluster 3 (n=15) More Rel. | p Values |
|-----------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------|
| Motivational Variables | | | | |
| Intrinsic Goal Orientation | 4.7 | 4.9 | 5.2 | n.s. |
| Extrinsic Goal Orientation | 5.4 a | 5.1 _a | $3.9_{\rm b}$ | <.001 |
| Self Efficacy | 5.3 | 5.3 | 5.3 | n.s. |
| Effort Management | 5.4 | 5.2 | 5.3 | n.s. |
| Approaches to Learning | | | | |
| Surface | $4.2_{\rm a}$ | 3.6 | $3.2_{\rm b}$ | <.001 |
| Deep | 4.9 | 5.1 | 5.5 | n.s.* |
| Achievement Motivation | 5.0 | 5.2 _a | 4.3_{b} | <.05 |
| Other Scale | | | | |
| Need for Cognition | 6.5_a | 7.2 | $7.7_{\rm b}$ | <.01 |

Note: Items were rated on 7-point scales except for Need for Cognition which was rated on a 9-point scale. *=approaching significance *p*<.07. Means with different subscripts are significantly different at the .05 level.

Interestingly, the data indicated that the three groups are most distinguishable by their responses to the approaches to learning and need for cognition surveys. The ANOVAs demonstrated significant differences between the cluster groups for extrinsic goal orientation (p<.001), surface approaches to learning (p<.001), achievement motivation(p<.05), and need for cognition (p<.01). Only one of the four motivation

subscales, extrinsic goal orientation, indicated a significant difference between the three clusters group means.

These results suggested that the less relativistic cluster group of students were most likely to be motivated by extrinsic goals and to use surface approaches to learning. They also had the lowest need for cognition of the three cluster groups. These students tended to have a moderate expectation to succeed in their courses and to expend the effort necessary to regulate and manage their resources for learning in law school.

The second cluster of students, moderately relativistic in four of the dimensions, was distinguishable mostly by their tendency to believe that knowledge is an innate ability. These results indicated that the second cluster of students was as likely to be motivated by extrinsic goals as by intrinsic goals. Similar to the students in the less relativistic group, these students were moderate in their use of deep approaches to learning and they were more likely than the more relativistic third cluster of students to use both surface and deep approaches to learning strategically in an effort to achieve their goals. These students also were slightly more likely to have a tendency to use achievement motivation approach to learning than students in the less relativistic cluster.

The third group of students can be characterized as ascribing to the most relativistic beliefs about learning and knowledge of the students participating in the study. The results in Table 19 indicated that they were the most intrinsically motivated and least extrinsically motivated students. They were also the most likely to use strategies for learning that require deep processing and least likely to use study approaches that supported their desire to achieve their goals better than other students. These more

relativistic students also had the highest need for cognition among the three groups. An interpretation of this scale would describe these students as interested in developing their ability to understand the field of law in meaningful ways, not interested in obtaining a simple understanding of complex issues, and tolerant of some of the ambiguity inherent in the legal domain evidenced by their tendency to enjoy thinking through complicated issues.

In summary, the patterns of student responses illustrate three distinct groups of students in this sample of law students. Interestingly, the self-efficacy and effort management scores were very similar across the three clusters. In order to explicate further the learning experiences of the students represented by each of the clusters, I contacted these students for interviews during their last year of law school (several more were contacted but only these agreed to be interviewed). Analysis of these interview data are presented in the qualitative portion of this chapter.

Qualitative Description

Interviews of Students Representing Each Cluster

The quantitative analyses indicated that there are some interesting relationships among the epistemological beliefs, motivation, assumptions of learning, and need for cognition measures. The cluster groups allowed an organization of the students according to similarities in their patterns of responses that also resulted in notable relationships. In order to achieve a more realistic understanding of the information obtained from the data analyses, it is necessary to, in a sense, "put a face on the numbers" before prematurely

characterizing these students according to the cluster group labels as good or better students.

However, a brief description of the law school environment may help provide some context to understand the student interviews. At the time this study was conducted, approximately 500 students were admitted at this particular law school each year as first-year students (also referred to as freshlaws). These students were divided into four groups called sections and each section was assigned a particular sequence of classes. The students took most of their courses in 100+ student classes in core topics such as property, contracts, constitutional law, and torts. These courses were year-long courses with the first semester (called a mid-term) examination grade counting as 20% and the final examination as 80% of the final grade for the course. The students were also assigned to one course that met in a small class of approximately 40 students. This class was designed for first-year students to experience some of the benefits of a smaller class size, allowing greater interaction with and feedback from the professor, more opportunity to participate in class discussion, and more direct attention to legal writing exercises conducted through these classes.

These first-year law students had a variety of available resources to draw from to aid them in their learning efforts. Upper class law students hired as teaching assistants helped students with areas such as writing assignments, ideas for outlining class notes and assignments, suggestions for preparing for examinations, and general encouragement or support for surviving the first year of law school. First-year students also had access to examinations from previous semesters at the library reference room, and during the

semester, many professors provided sample questions and answers for students to practice responding to examination questions. Some professors also made themselves available to answer student questions or give students specific help on improving their examination analyzing and writing ability.

At the time of the interview, most of the students were completing their final year of law school, studying in preparation for the bar examination in the summer, and finalizing employment arrangements for their first positions after law school. The students were contacted by email and reminded of their earlier participation in the study (when they had completed the questionnaire packet as first-year students). They were invited to participate in a 30-45 minute interview about their learning experiences throughout law school. Four students volunteered to be interviewed. The semi-structured interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed, and examined according to the cluster group the students were in from their earlier responses.

The primary purpose of the interviews was to elicit the students' perspectives about their law school learning experiences. They were asked to speak about three broad topics: their experiences as learners, their thoughts about becoming a lawyer, and their advice to incoming first-year law students. Students were asked to speak about their experience as learners throughout their law school career with probing questions about their grades, learning strategies, motivations, and relationships with others students and professors. Students were also asked to trace their thoughts about their developing views of themselves as a lawyer and how these were affected by their learning experiences. Finally, the students were asked what advice they would give to students who were just

starting law school. When examined in light of the cluster group descriptions, all of their responses to these questions would provide insight to how the students in the different clusters made sense of this learning environment.

The three students who are were selected as representatives of the cluster groups were between 23 and 27 years of age, white, and were liberal arts majors in college. The fourth student who was not included in this discussion was a student from the less relativistic cluster group. However, this student was completing her final year of a joint degree program that she was taking in conjunction with law school. The other student from the less relativistic cluster group had a more typical first year law student experience and so became the cluster group representative.

Mary - Cluster Group 1, Less Relativistic

For Mary, finishing law school meant she could get on with other, more personally meaningful parts of her life. Mary delivered her first child shortly after completing her law school examinations that final year. She had already obtained a job commitment from a relationship-oriented law firm that would respect her desire to have a family life apart from her work. Mary had found a way to manage her law school experiences in such a way that she maintained her personal life goals and attained what she wanted from the experience.

Mary described her law school learning experiences in a somewhat dispassionate way. Grades were an extremely important motivation for Mary throughout her law school career and she attributed this importance to her parents' influence. Mary recognized that grades were important for obtaining honored positions in law school, such as serving on

journal or law review editorial boards. However, Mary also found some personally relevant benefits from achieving good grades, especially after her first year exams. She remembered that attaining good grades after her first-year examinations made her feel more confident in her ability to do well and in her ultimate ability to become a lawyer.

Mary said her study strategies had not changed appreciably from her undergraduate study experiences. "I always tried to read everything that was assigned and do the outlining," Mary claimed. However, she also tried to limit herself to doing what the professors assigned and did not find that reading supplemental materials was a useful expenditure of her time. Mary relied on her professors to lead the way as far as obtaining legal knowledge. "I followed their plans. I didn't go talk to them a lot. But just whatever they said to do, I did," Mary explained.

Mary sometimes found it useful to share outlining duties with her peers during her first couple years of law school. However, she learned that other students' outlines were not always sufficient for her needs as she would sometimes have to do more work to compensate for their deficiencies. The greatest benefit to Mary in sharing the workload in this manner was that it helped her manage her emotions as she found these interactions with other students during the stressful years of law school "calming."

During her interview, Mary admitted that she did not like law school very much.

Mary was rather matter of fact about the statement that she had obtained relatively good grades but she admitted that she was also motivated to persist in her learning efforts because of the promise of future financial rewards. Mary would not describe her learning experiences in law school as discovering law and, even though she thought she had

absorbed quite a bit of information, she also felt she had learned "a way to think about" the law.

Mary did not often venture into areas of law that interested her. In fact, she delayed her selection of an area of law on which to focus until her third year of law school. She chose the transactional tax area more for the fact that she could avoid litigation and court appearances as much as possible than for the reason of her interest in the tax area. Mary was content with her job selection choice and spoke of the quality of life benefits for employees of the firm she had agreed to join.

Mary's responses to the interview illustrates some of the less relativistic group characteristics. Mary deferred to her professor's knowledge as her primary guide for what she needed to know and study during law school. Mary gave some indication of being extrinsically motivated to pursue her goals in law school. Mary was directed in her selection of activities by external factors such as her parents' wishes for her to obtain a good grade. In addition, she was responsive to her outward environment because of her reticence for debating in a public forum. Mary's comments revealed her concern for her emotional well-being as she sought the companionship of the study groups because it helped soothe her emotions. Mary said her successful grades helped to bolster her confidence. As a student who did not enjoy law school very much, Mary found a way to persist until she achieved her academic goals and then devised a plan for her post-law school life that allowed her to maintain the personal goals she valued most.

Robin – Cluster Group 2, Moderately Relativistic

Robin was a law student who had a strong belief in obtaining grades for a purpose and yet, at the same time, a considerable belief in following her own interests in law school. Robin described herself as a student who had become an efficient learner in law school. For her, that efficiency meant doing what was necessary to find out first if her learning skills were adequate for the task, and then continuing to hone her study procedures so that she could accomplish what she wanted in her courses. As Robin put it, "I think I became comfortable with knowing what I had to do to get the grade I wanted. So there were times when it was exciting and interesting, and oh, I'm really into this ... and then there were definitely times where it was ... all about just get the grade, just get the grade."

Robin's repertoire of studying strategies in law school included relying on notes from classes, highlighting reading assignments with meaningful color codes, and listening to professors' explanations about legal concepts or theories. She would then use these notes and highlights to help herself memorize and organize the information for examinations. Robin also found great value in studying with other students and seldom studied alone. She felt that she processed information better by talking it over with peers than simply reading it on her own. Her first year study group spent extensive time outlining cases together and quizzing each other with questions they obtained from other study aids, students, or previous exams the professors made available to students. It was during these types of interactions that Robin made connections between the information and in the process of doing so, she would be able to remember the information for her examinations.

Even later, during her second or third year, Robin would seek out a study partner or two to review outlines, examine practice examinations, and narrow the topics to focus on pertinent information for the examination. Robin felt she needed these types of study relationships because she could not muster the energy to study in this way on her own.

Robin was motivated to maintain the good grades she had achieved in order to accomplish other goals she had during law school. Robin realized that if she did not achieve good grades, she would be limited in her ability to get a clerkship of her choosing, "...but it was also more of a feeling like ... I can do this and I can continue to do well and get good grades. So it's ridiculous if I don't." On the other hand, Robin said she made a calculated attempt to take classes that she was interested in during law school rather than classes that only would be useful to her when it came time to take the bar examination. She decided to believe the advice she had received from other law students, that she could obtain all the preparation she needed from a commercial bar exam preparation course she would take after law school.

Robin, who had been a teacher for three years before law school, came to law school with a desire to "change the world." Her belief in her ability to influence the world on a grand scale diminished during the process of law school. While her interest in law and the application of justice on a broad basis did not wane, she became more realistic in her belief that she would have the opportunity to work on a case that would effect such changes. She learned through summer clerking experiences and talking with practicing attorneys that most lawyers spend their time in routine activities that make an impact one case or person at a time. Robin developed an unexpected interest in criminal law during

law school and she was able to parlay that interest into clerkship experiences that allowed her to examine international war crimes. Robin did not view herself as an "expert" in law and sometimes found herself amazed that she was even obtaining a law degree. Robin declared, "there are times when I'm like, oh my God. They are giving me a degree and they're so wrong. They shouldn't be letting me out in the world." Robin was not sure exactly what kind of law she wanted to practice, but she had obtained a two-year clerkship opportunity with a state judge that would allow her to make the decision over time.

Robin's interview provides some insight into how a student from the moderately relativistic cluster group in the first year navigated through law school. Robin's interview suggested that she had an extrinsic goal orientation and primarily relied on surface approaches to studying while also expending the effort necessary to engage in collaborative learning activities. In fact, Robin's self-knowledge about harnessing her learning efforts by making sure she studied with other students is indicative of students who highly manage their effort. Although Robin had an extrinsic focus on grades, she was also motivated by an initial altruistic interest in law that developed into a passion for working for the welfare of others on an international level. Robin held a tentative stance towards her expectancy for success in law school and as she received feedback on her ability to achieve in law school, she grew in her confidence about her capabilities. Robin had a similar tentative self-efficacy for becoming a lawyer but her plans for post-law school employment, her determination to prepare extensively for the bar examination,

and her willingness to allow her decision about her future practice to emerge over time is indicative of a student who was in control of her own progress.

Charles – Cluster Group 3, More Relativistic

Charles came to law school upon the recommendation of co-workers at a hometown law firm where he had worked for summer jobs. They thought Charles would make a good lawyer because he liked to argue with them. Charles already had degrees in acting and directing and he thought this theatrical background and his penchant for debate made him a prime candidate for a legal career. That, and the fact that he desperately needed a paying profession instead of a purely artistic one led Charles to pursue law school with a great deal of energy.

Charles stated that he had very little difficulty learning in law school. He described a variety of strategies he used to acquire, organize, and prepare information he needed. Even though he found ways to learn and remember, for example, the content of statutes for examinations, "it's not about memory." Charles recognized early in his first year that he needed to put in the time "to do the analysis" and that he could not rely solely upon memorizing information to get through examinations.

Charles was thorough and disciplined in his approach to studying. He developed routines in scheduling his time for studying alone, studying in groups, and preparation for examinations. Charles structured his week so that he could devote his time and attention to his studies and have one day of the weekend that he could enjoy for his personal life, which for him included a new relationship he began during the time he was in law school. Charles was also very structured in his management of information from his courses: "I

wrote my own outlines for every class I took." Even when he participated in study groups in which members would outline different parts of the class materials, Charles would take their outlines and modify them until they reflected his own preferences. Charles found his first-year study group immensely helpful because he would often engage in intense interactions with his fellow students as they "argued ... at such length with such passion," and "disagreed with each other so vehemently," that they would learn the material far better than they would have otherwise.

Charles said he forced himself to control his curiosity about legal theories or interesting ideas and reined in his desire to look into these issues in more depth. He managed his time and focused on learning the material that was covered in class. That did not mean he did not go beyond the parameters of a course, however. "When I was learning this material, I did not take the professor's lecture as being final. I would always go back to the book and sometimes to a third source if I felt like I didn't understand it completely." Charles said he continued to seek other sources of information until he understood the material "well enough that I could teach it to myself."

Charles' hard work paid off as he had good success with his grades. Charles was very aware of the impact grades had upon his options in law school and for obtaining desired clerkships. He knew that "grades were absolutely almost the only important factor when it came to on-campus interviewing" for summer employment opportunities. Charles knew several students who did not handle well the discouragement that came as a result of pressure about grades. However, Charles was able to harness the pressure and use it as a motivation to continue his efforts for studying. Charles also found that doing well with

his grades fed his sense of well-being. "As I started doing better in law school it made me feel better about my abilities. I will leave law school with a very positive building experience."

Charles talked about his perspective on law school, "I saw law school almost like a game. Well, more serious than a game." As an example, Charles talked about how he would strategically respond to examination questions based on information he had gleaned from observation or other students about professors' preferences for examination answers. Charles said that on an important examination he had just completed, the answers he gave "were not what I thought were the correct answers" about the subject. Charles came to know which professors wanted their own answers back on the examinations, which ones took points off for extending answers beyond the parameters of the questions, and which ones were favorably impressed with copious amounts of verbiage about even obscure aspects of a subject. Charles said, "I never resented the game being played that way. Some did immensely. And so, I can respect that, but I guess I'm more results oriented."

Charles stated that he really enjoyed learning in law school and saw some changes in himself that he had not expected. Over the course of time in law school, he developed a real interest in the law, so much so that he declared, "for me now, it is almost not about the money," even though he had a prestigious clerkship to look forward to as he was finishing his studies. Charles was very aware that he had been blessed and he was very sympathetic toward other students who had not done as well.

Charles is a good example of students from the third cluster group. His disciplined study habits, his reliance on deep rather than primarily surface approaches to studying, and his intrinsic interest in various legal theories and subjects were apparent throughout his interview. Charles was also very strategic in his management of resources such as time and knowledge he could gather about professors from other students. In contrast to Mary, Charles' beliefs about learning were apparent throughout his interview as he mentioned his willingness to go beyond the minimal requirements for learning information, and his refusal to accept his law professor's explanations and instruction as the sole authority in his classes.

Chapter 5: Discussion

The purpose of this research was to examine law students' conceptions of their learning experiences in their first year of law school and to characterize their understandings of their entire law school learning experiences in terms of their epistemological beliefs, assumptions of learning, and motivations for learning. Three broad research questions of this study were used to determine (1) if a group of first-year law students would show a range of epistemological beliefs, (2) the relationships among the epistemological beliefs, assumptions of learning, and motivational variables, and (3) how law students conceptualized their learning experiences across the years of their program. These questions not only required analysis of the findings, but consideration in light of other research. In what follows I first summarize the findings by issues related to research questions and then address broader issues about epistemological beliefs presented in the introduction that are most relevant to this study.

Description of Law Students' Epistemological Beliefs

The first issue, already addressed in the results chapter, indicated that a group of first-year law students could be distinguished in terms of their epistemological beliefs. As measured by the epistemological beliefs dimensions, these first-year law students were predominantly grouped in the more sophisticated, higher end of the beliefs scales. This corresponds with other studies that show that upper-level undergraduate and graduate students tend to be more relativistic in their intellectual development and their epistemological beliefs (Braebeck, 1984; Moore, 1994). The law students in this study, however, varied within the upper half of the total epistemological beliefs scale and

ranged from, what I termed, less relativistic to more relativistic. By using these terms, however, I do not mean to concur with the stage model research point of view of epistemological development that posits a sequential maturation of college students' thought processes. According to proponents of the cognitivist-developmental perspective, many upper-level college students transition to a view of knowledge that is essentially relativistic and context-bound (Moore, 1994, Pintrich, 2002). Students who extend their education to graduate school are most able to move to Perry's (1970) highest stage of intellectual growth wherein they advance from viewing knowledge in a strictly relativistic stance to making a committed choice among competing alternatives based on personal meaning and relevance. The first-year law students who participated in this study could be said to reflect the range of development between these stages of growth. However, from a cognitivist epistemological standpoint, these students' many hours of experience and exposure to disciplinary reasoning facilitated their commitment to more sophisticated epistemological beliefs across many dimensions such as the certainty or simplicity of knowledge (Schommer, 1990; Schraw, 2001). These results are then also appropriate to the perspective that epistemological beliefs vary due to their independence (students can be more or less sophisticated in different beliefs) and due to their asynchronous nature (students can simultaneously believe different aspects of the same belief dimension) (Schommer-Aikins, 2002).

Relationships Among Beliefs, Approaches to Learning, and Motivation

The second research question explored relationships that exist among epistemological beliefs, assumptions of learning, and motivations for learning, including need for

cognition. Based on the cluster analysis and ANOVA results, the relationships among epistemological beliefs, approaches to learning, and motivational variables were most informative. In several ways, the cluster analysis supported much of the existing theory and research on epistemological beliefs, motivation, approaches to learning, and need for cognition. For example, students who were less relativistic in their beliefs also tended to use surface approaches to their learning and studying, tended to be more motivated by extrinsic incentives (i.e., grades), and tended to be less motivated by deep thinking (i.e., need for cognition). By contrast, students who were more relativistic in their beliefs tended to use fewer surface approaches to their learning and studying, tended to be less motivated by extrinsic incentives, and tended to be more motivated by deep thinking.

Epistemological beliefs and assumptions of learning research supports these general characterizations that students with more sophisticated epistemological beliefs use more elaborative learning strategies, enjoy thinking deeply about subjects, and are motivated to learn because of an inherent interest in or appreciation for the subject. Conversely, students who employ surface approaches to learning typically have an extrinsic goal orientation and are more dependent upon factual information they can obtain from instructors or texts.

However, other aspects of the cluster analysis demonstrated interesting similarities among the students that warrant further discussion, and perhaps, further research. For example, the cluster groups demonstrated no significant differences with respect to their intrinsic motivational goals, their effort management, and their self-efficacy. Relative to the differences noted above, their similarities suggested that these students entered law

school with similar motivating interests and valuing of the study of law. As mentioned earlier, these students had already experienced a fairly high level of academic success as demonstrated by the fact that they had graduated from their undergraduate colleges and had been accepted into a highly competitive law school. Hence, their similar effort management and self-efficacy ratings suggested that these students had perhaps found it necessary to manage their effort in the past, and that their previous academic successes encouraged them to expect success in law school. Although they exhibited differences in their epistemological beliefs, they had all been successful enough in college to be admitted to a prestigious law school and they expected to be successful in law school.

Another interesting similarity across the cluster groups was their ratings for deep approaches to learning and studying. This is indicative of the fact that the epistemological belief dimensions that formed the cluster groups did not result in groups that were different in their use of strategies to attain meaningful understanding. It also corresponds with the students' intrinsic interest in law. The difference for these students was with respect to the extent to which they were willing to use surface approaches to learning and studying. The less relativistic and moderately relativistic students were more likely to use surface approaches to learning and studying when compared to the more relativistic group. The group differences for willingness and propensity to use surface approaches to studying could be reflective of their differences in need for cognition. All of the students may have been aware that deep approaches were necessary to the learning of law-related information, but only the more relativistic students enjoyed that demand.

It is interesting to note that epistemological beliefs were not correlated with students' grades for the course they were taking. The variable that was most correlated with students' grades was self-efficacy, a variable for which the cluster groups did not demonstrate significant differences. Hence, it is not surprising that the cluster groups did not demonstrate significant differences with respect to their grades. In essence, the dimensions that contributed to the clusters did not result in groups that were different in terms of success in law school.

Law Students' Conceptions of their Law School Experience

Other, broader questions were raised in the introduction to this study about epistemological beliefs and their structure, generality, and changeable nature. This study was not designed to explore these major issues fully, but the results suggested some initial support for the ideas. For example, the student interviews provide some indication that students (as representatives of the cluster groups) held varying degrees of epistemological beliefs and motivations and assumptions of learning. Both Mary and Robin, for example belonged to groups that were moderately strong on extrinsic motivation. However, Robin, from the moderately relativistic cluster group, definitely also had an initial intrinsic interest in law that evolved over the three years of law school, but never diminished. Mary's intrinsic motivation for law school was not readily apparent from her interview or her description of her law school interests or aspirations for future law employment.

Law students' interviews, therefore, further illustrated the complexity that the quantitative measures only suggested. For example, as demonstrated above, the students'

descriptions of their law school learning experiences showed the tensions between some students' intrinsic and extrinsic motivations. This is consistent with research that has demonstrated that although students can be primarily intrinsically or extrinsically motivated to achieve learning objectives, combinations of these orientations are often exhibited (Harackiewicz, Barron, Tauer, Carter, & Elliot, 2000; Rigby, Deci, Patrick, & Ryan, 1992). The critical issue, then, is not that students are primed to be intrinsically motivated for a topic because that will enable them to be more successful academically. Students who have an extrinsic goal orientation may also be acting in their own best interests. This is a common occurrence for students who realize they may not be able to attain higher-order, long-term future goals if they do not also show high academic performance. Law students, for example, exhibited their high ability prior to law school by attaining high GPA's or high scores on law school entrance examinations. For many students, their focus on doing what was necessary to achieve high grades might have paid off in the short term because they were able to attend law school. Motivation research has shown that students may simultaneously hold combinations of motivation components (e.g., intrinsic and extrinsic goal orientation or performance and mastery goals) and thereby maintain their interest in the subject matter while they pursue high academic achievement (Harackiewicz, et al., 1997).

Similarly, the students who simultaneously hold different epistemological beliefs might find corresponding advantages and disadvantages for their learning approaches. In these interviews, Mary spoke about her reliance on professors as a source of knowledge, accepting their recommendations and directives as the primary guide for her study

actions. At the same time, she indicated that she valued processes that allowed her to think and find meaning in what she was learning.

Considering the asynchronous nature of epistemological beliefs allows an appreciation of the strengths and weaknesses that any particular position on epistemological dimension a student might inhabit. Charles, the student representing the more relativistic group, responded to his learning environment by recognizing he could not pursue all of the levels of interest he might have for a particular topic. He realized he needed to harness his energy for deeply probing the information and knowledge he was acquiring for class and could not afford to be side-tracked into investigating tangential topics. Within that framework, Charles freely sought information and resources he needed to obtain the degree of understanding and meaning he wanted for class. At the same time, Charles was very aware of and responsive to the professors in his class. In fact, he relished the challenge of obtaining the information about how professors preferred to receive answers on examinations and using that information to his advantage. Charles' statements were not fully reflective of a belief in omniscient authority, but his strategic choices to act in this way are interesting to note. Further research efforts might examine if only more relativistic students display this kind of flexibility in strategically using their asynchronous beliefs.

In contrast, Mary maintained her distance from pursuing topics of interest because she relied on her professors' recommendations for what to study and do for the class. Mary's response to her learning environment was epistemologically less sophisticated, but at the same time she combined it with her belief that it was necessary for her to use

elaborative approaches to learning (reflecting a more sophisticated epistemological belief that knowledge was to be acquired from her own processes as well).

Research also supports the idea that students may simultaneously combine different approaches to learning. For example, Kember (1996) reported that students described their study efforts as actions to memorize and to understand information. Kember did not classify this as a new category reflecting a juxtaposition of both the deep and surface approaches to learning, but instead, he described this as a subset of the surface approach that allows consideration of students who use some level of understanding with memorizing to accomplish learning goals. As a step in the process towards getting more information, especially for students in the introductory portion of studies (Kember & Gow, 1994), students use rehearsal strategies to memorize information as part of the process to expand their understanding. By so doing, students create cognitive structures as they memorize the information that allows them then to make connections with other knowledge in more meaningful ways.

The interviews supported the idea that while students varied in their epistemological beliefs, their intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, approaches to learning, and need for cognition, the students' self-perceptions of their own interactions in the law school learning environment were also similar. As such, the interviews intimated that not only students' epistemological beliefs, but their self-beliefs about becoming a lawyer are also relevant considerations. Students perceptions about self in relation to different educational contexts may intervene between students' learning conceptions and their aspirations for the future. The self is a legitimate source of reference for students when it

becomes the focal point of meaning making. For one thing, beliefs about self as central to the task of learning become more accepted by students as they mature in their epistemological beliefs (Moore, 1994) and begin to accept the role of self as an authentic participant with expert authorities (including texts) in constructing knowledge and understanding. Stage model views of epistemological growth also place students' views of self as an aspect of the mechanism for transition to the final stage is that students commit themselves to a certain viewpoint partially in relationship to their own identity or sense of self (Moore, 1994).

The following sections highlight the limitations of the study, the implications of the study for future teaching and learning, and the recommendations for future research.

Limitations

Several limitations exist for this study and are related to the sample size, characteristics of the participants, and the interview process. First, a small number of respondents from a single setting limits the generalizability of these findings to this specific domain and these findings may not be applicable to other domains or even other similar settings without careful consideration of how well aligned are these characteristics. In addition, reliance upon volunteer participants in the study more than likely resulted in an overrepresentation of students who had at least a moderate amount of motivation and self-direction to follow the procedures for completing and turning in the questionnaire materials. Students who did not volunteer to participate were not questioned to check to see if there was any systematic reason for their non-participation. Nevertheless, the number of participants in this study was sufficiently large enough to

find an adequate spread among the scores for epistemological beliefs and to form the students into discernable groups for the cluster analysis.

Furthermore, it may have been informative to have the students retake the measures in the final year to examine whether there had been significant changes in response over the years. A longitudinal study design would be more advantageous for obtaining a greater amount of student data spanning the period of a law students' academic career and make it possible to gather more evidence about changes in epistemological beliefs processes within this environment.

The interviews did not cover multiple representatives of the various cluster groups. It would have added strength to the study to have interviewed more students within each cluster group and thereby examine similarities and differences in their patterns of responses, beliefs, and attitudes about learning. Adding more interviews would also allow a more complete qualitative picture of the experience. Another limitation of the interviews in this research study was reliance on students' retrospective descriptions of intentions, actions, beliefs and motivations during law school. Admittedly, interviewing law students during or immediately following their first year of study could have added depth and accuracy to their descriptions, but it might have also captured their skewed understandings of those experiences due to the emotions and stress they may have still been processing. Asking third-year students about their entire law school process allowed the students to place that first-year experience into a different frame of reference that was probably balanced by the added perspective and experiences they had gained from the final two years of law school and legal work experience. Additional research could

examine how students' descriptions of their first-year experience changes or remains constant by their final year.

Familiarity with the law school culture can benefit and hinder researchers at the same time. As an insider researcher, it was to my advantage to have a shared reference with law students. However, it could arguably be considered not enough basis for fresh understanding and such familiarity may detract from the advantages that a more detached perspective gives (Crowson, 1987). The issue is clearly one for which researchers must seek balance and be aware of the limitations.

Implications of this Study for Teaching and Learning

One of the ways this preliminary study of law students' conceptions of learning can be used is to help educators identify reasons students have difficulty with thinking or understanding an issue (Schommer-Aikins, 2002). As legal educators become aware of the full spectrum of students' intellectual development and epistemological beliefs and how those processes affect and are affected by students' motivations, they are more able to consider this information in light of their instructional plans. Presumably, instruction could then be redirected towards helping students with their learning.

However, providing prescriptive advice to legal educators about students' conceptions of learning may not be the only useful action. This research proposes that researchers and educators alike value students' conceptions of learning whether they appear to be more or less sophisticated in their epistemological beliefs or assumptions of learning. It may be more worthwhile for law schools to begin by directing their efforts to providing a learning environment that helps first-year students become aware of their

own beliefs about learning and instruction so that they can make strategic choices to support their learning processes. Students could perhaps then anticipate problems, take steps to adapt to their instructional environment, and refine their learning repertoire to be more effective learners in law school. This research suggests that relativistic students may be able to make use of even their seemingly less sophisticated beliefs and assumptions of learning to their learning advantage.

Finally, students may also be able to help each other as they collaborate to carry on the law school learning environment. As students attend to and respond to their learning environment through self-reflective examination or conversations with other students about their implicit theories and beliefs, they can use their knowledge of their conceptions of learning to help each other. Students sometimes have valuable insights as to what other students need to do to succeed. The final interview question illustrates one possible type of student-to-student outreach. Students were asked what advice they would give to first-year law students just entering law school. Interestingly, the three students' responses reflected a salient aspect of their law school experiences in line with their cluster group representation.

Mary's advice to future first year law students was not focused on features of the learning environment that were external to her such as professors or grades (as might be expected from a student in the most relativistic cluster group). Instead, Mary's recommendations for new law students centered around advising them to manage their emotions during the first year. "...[S]tay calm and try not to listen too much to what everybody else is saying and doing." Mary felt it was important for first-year students to

move through the process of law school with an inner confidence built on knowing what they want to do and trusting that it will happen for them, regardless of

Robin, from the moderately relativistic cluster group, showed both an extrinsic goal orientation and a concern that first-year law students would find a meaningful learning experience in law school. She stated, "grades aren't everything." By this she meant, that "it's not the end of the world" if first-year law students do not receive immediately the grades they desire. She would advise new law students to have faith that "things will work out the way they're suppose to" and that they will be able to get good jobs after law school even if they are not at the very top of the class ranking. Robin then added that she would also advise first-year students how worthwhile it would be for them to take some classes – and some professors – just because of their own interest.

Charles, from the more relativistic cluster group, gave advice that mirrored his comments about his effortful management of resources so that he could stay focused on his learning goals. Charles said he would advise first-year law students to manage their time so they would be able to work hard to study and then reward themselves with time to do non-law related activities.

Future Research Directions

More than simply reflecting an interest in law students as an exotic species rarely described in psychological and educational literature, I found great value in investigating these issues about epistemological beliefs and conceptions of learning with students from this setting. A law school environment is a fruitful context for research about students' conceptions of learning and epistemological beliefs because it provides a microcosm of

experienced learners who yet exhibit enough variability that representatives across the spectrum of epistemological beliefs (in the relativistic sections) could participate in a study. As experienced learners operating in a demanding, ill-structured learning environment, many law students' conceptions of learning are challenged enough during law school that it causes them to take steps to modify their learning actions. Although law students may not directly focus on the fact that they often respond to this learning environment by modifying their beliefs, motivations, or approaches to learning, they are able cogently to discuss their thoughts when asked about these processes in interviews and on self-assessment instruments. Future research would do well to include such students who generally are motivated to achieve and yet face a daunting task of integrating the knowledge into usable and meaningful framework.

More than likely, for many first-year law students, the interaction of their epistemological beliefs, motivations, and approaches to learning with elements from the learning environment impeded rather than fostered their learning. Future research should be directed at determining the structural components of epistemological beliefs that changed or modified over the course of three years of study in law school, which students have difficulty replacing their well-trained approaches to learning with different approaches, and what student actions result in ineffective learning. In addition, research should include examining how students come to be aware of their need to adjust their approaches to learning or to engage in more purposeful efforts to manage their learning,

Most certainly, a finer tuned epistemological beliefs instrument should be designed to specifically gauge how much students are in allegiance with either ends of the

epistemological beliefs scales. Additionally, this research suggested that future studies should continue to include measures of students' varying levels of combinations of approaches to learning, motivational beliefs, and need for cognition as part of participant characteristics in a particular learning environment. For example, this study indicated that first-year law students' self-efficacy beliefs would be a useful item to investigate further. Law students' high sense of academic self-efficacy may also be interrelated with their other self-beliefs (Pajares, 1992), such as their self-efficacy for summer clerkship positions or beliefs about becoming a lawyer.

Further investigations that connect conceptions of learning to other relevant cognitive and affective processes for students' success in law school is an important future research direction (Diaz, Glass, Arnkoff, Tanofsky-Kraff, 2001). For example, other studies that examine law students' emotions, methods for managing stress and anxiety, and views of self can be related to epistemological beliefs, assumptions of learning, motivations, and need for cognition.

Conclusion

Learning is a complex activity. In addition to new content students must learn, they also must deal with influences from the learning environment. Students' internal processes can help them or hinder them as they work to muster all their learning resources to achieve their academic goals. Students' epistemological beliefs are part of their conceptual tools for learning that are operating to affect their motivations and strategies for learning and studying as they go about their academic endeavors. Results of this study showed that as novice students, first-year law students who were more

relativistic and less relativistic were able to successfully made use of their more and less sophisticated beliefs to accomplish their learning goals.

Appendix A: Information Sheet

| Na | me: | | | (please print) | |
|-----|---------------------|-----------------|---------------|----------------|--|
| Cla | ass (circle one): | Property | To | rts | |
| Ple | ease answer the fol | lowing general | l information | questions: | |
| 1. | Gender (circle on | e) | Male | Female | |
| 2. | What is your age? | ? | | | |
| 3. | What is your ethn | ic background | ? | | |
| 4. | What year did you | u graduate fror | n college? _ | | |
| 5. | What was your m | ajor in college | ? | | |
| 6. | What other degree | es have you ea | rned? | | |

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

The following survey instruments are about your thoughts and beliefs about learning and motivation. Remember, there are no right or wrong answers; just answer as accurately as possible. It is most helpful if you can come to a decision point, so please answer each question.

Note that these questionnaires will be used for research purposes only and will remain strictly confidential. As with any response to any research questionnaire, it is very important that you answer as candidly as possible. Your answers should reflect your *current* beliefs and opinions formed over the years as a student. Please take into account that your answers should reflect your *personal* beliefs and/or opinions and not the theories or constructs you may have learned.

Thank you for your participation!

Appendix B: EB Questionnaire

Use the scale below to respond to the following statements. If you strongly agree with the statement, write a 7; if you strongly disagree with the statement, write a 1. If you more or less agree with a statement, find the number between 1 and 7 that best describes you. Please respond to each statement.

Neutral

Strongly

Agree

Strongly

Disagree

| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
|-----|---------------------------------------|------------------|-------------------|-----------------|---------------|-------------|
| 1. | Professors shou | ıld control the | pace of student | ts' learning. | | |
| 2. | When I study, I | look for spec | ific facts. | | | |
| 3. | Professors shou | ıld control the | pace of student | ts' learning. | | |
| 4. | It is often unner among classes. | cessary to con | nbine information | on across cha | pters in a bo | ook or even |
| 5. | In a heated disc say that I forger | | - | | what I am g | going to |
| 6. | I prefer that pro | ofessors stick t | to more concret | e examples ar | nd do less th | eorizing. |
| 7. | When I learn, I for different ex | | | | e and avoid | looking |
| 8. | Learning is esse | entially doing | what your prof | essors tell you | 1. | |
| 9. | Most problems | have one best | solution no ma | tter how com | plex they ar | ·e. |
| 10. | An expert is so | meone who ha | as a special gift | for a particula | ar field. | |
| 11. | I feel that a cou undergraduates | • | kills would prob | oably be valua | able for man | ny |
| 12. | For good stude | nts, understan | ding a concept i | is easy. | | |
| 13. | I can believe m | ost things I re | ad in a textbook | ζ. | | |

EB Questionnaire

Use the scale below to respond to the following statements. If you strongly agree with the statement, write a 7; if you strongly disagree with the statement, write a 1. If you more or less agree with a statement, find the number between 1 and 7 that best describes you. Please respond to each statement.

Strongly

Strongly

| Disagree | | | Neutral | | | Agree |
|----------|----------------------------------|------------------|-------------------|----------------|---------------|-------------|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| | | | | | | |
| 14. | A group that to cannot exist for | | ny differences o | of opinion an | nong its own | n members |
| 15. | If a person can often unnecessa | | _ | hin a short ar | nount of tin | ne, it is |
| 16. | Sometimes I ju me even though | | - | and commen | ts my profe | ssor gives |
| 17. | I can rely on an want to know. | expert (e.g., p | orofessor) in lea | rning about s | something I | really |
| 18. | The statement ' | genius is 10% | ability and 90% | % hard work' | ' is essentia | lly true. |
| 19. | It usually takes | a lot of time to | o learn importa | nt things. | | |
| 20. | Being a good s | tudent general | y involves men | norizing a lot | of facts. | |
| 21. | It is annoying t to what she/he | | | ot seem to m | nake up her/ | his mind as |
| 22. | The most impo work. | rtant aspect of | doing research | is precise me | easurement | and careful |
| 23. | How much a perprofessors. | erson gets out o | of school mostly | y depends on | the quality | of the |
| 24. | I prefer classes learn and what | | | actly what the | ey are suppo | osed to |

EB Questionnaire

Use the scale below to respond to the following statements. If you strongly agree with the statement, write a 7; if you strongly disagree with the statement, write a 1. If you more or less agree with a statement, find the number between 1 and 7 that best describes you. Please respond to each statement.

Strongly

Strongly

| Disagree | • | 2 | Neutral | _ | | Agree |
|----------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|-----------------|------------------|---------------|---------------|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
| | | | | | | |
| 25. | Usually the first to do at it. | t time you try a | new subject, | you can tell h | ow well yo | u are going |
| 26. | People who cha | llenge authorit | y are overcon | fident. | | |
| 27. | Learning definit | tions word-for- | word is often | necessary to d | do well on t | ests. |
| 28. | It is difficult to master it one se | | | you start at th | e beginning | g and |
| 29. | In a discussion, sure I am being | | necessary to re | epeat myself s | everal time | s to make |
| 30. | I dislike workin | g on problems | which have n | o clear-cut ans | swers. | |
| 31. | Even for a smar | t student, gettii | ng ahead take | s a lot of work | | |
| 32. | The best thing a one right answer | | ourses is that | n them most p | oroblems ha | ave only |
| 33. | For almost all in understood on the | | | a textbook, mo | ost of it sho | uld be |
| 34. | Some people are | e born as good | learners; other | rs are just stud | ck with lim | ited ability. |
| 35. | Working on a d really smart stud | - | n for an exten | ded period of | time only p | ays off for |
| 36. | There is usually | only one best | way to solve | most problems | S. | |
| 37. | The really smar | t students don' | t have to work | k hard to do w | ell in schoo | 1. |

EB Questionnaire

Use the scale below to respond to the following statements. If you strongly agree with the statement, write a 7; if you strongly disagree with the statement, write a 1. If you more or less agree with a statement, find the number between 1 and 7 that best describes you. Please respond to each statement.

Neutral

Strongly

Agree

Strongly

Disagree

| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |
|-------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|-----------------|---------------|------------|
| 38. L | earning is a pr | rocess of build | ing up knowle | dge gradually | | |
| 39. S | ometimes I fee | el that I lack th | ne talent to do v | well in school | | |
| 40. I | tend to believe | e what the pro | fessor says rath | ner than what | students say | ' . |
| | f a person is no tudying. | ot really smart, | , it is hard for h | nim/her to imp | prove the eff | fect of |
| 42. S | scientists can u | ltimately disco | over the truth. | | | |
| | A good profess rack in a cours | • | eep his/her stu | dents from wa | andering off | `the right |
| | my professor' is/her opinion. | | different from | those I have, | I tend to fol | llow |
| | Inderstanding omplicated. | something is n | not a process w | hich takes a lo | ong time or | is |
| 46. N | Aost words hav | ve a single, cle | arly defined m | eaning. | | |
| 47. N | My blood boils | whenever a pe | erson stubborn | ly refuses to a | dmit he/she | 's wrong. |
| 48. S | self-help books | s are not much | help. | | | |
| | 'd like it if I co roblems. | ould find some | one who would | d tell me how | to solve my | personal |
| 50. L | earning in col | lege is to acqu | ire new facts th | nat I hadn't kr | nown previo | usly. |

Appendix C: MSLQ Scale

Use the scale below to respond to the statements. If you think the statement is very true of you, write a 7; if the statement is not at all true of you, write a 1. If the statement is more or less true of you, find the number between 1 and 7 that best describes you. Please respond to each statement.

Very true

Not at all

| true of me | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | of me |
|-------------|--------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------------------|------------------|--------------|
| | | | | | | |
| | is class, I pr things. | refer course r | material that | really challeng | ges me so I ca | an learn |
| | en feel so la t I planned t | • | when I study | for class that I | quit before | I finish |
| | sidering the vell in this cl | | this class, th | e teacher, and | my skill, I th | ink I will |
| 4. I'm o | confident I | can learn the | basic concep | ots taught in th | is class. | |
| | confident I cuctor in this | | nd the most c | omplex mater | ial presented | by the |
| 6. Getti | ing a good g | grade in this o | class is the m | ost satisfying | thing for me | right now. |
| 7. I'm cour | | can do an exc | cellent job on | the assignme | nts and tests | in this |
| | most satisfy oroughly as | | me in this cl | lass is trying to | understand | the content |
| 9. I exp | ect to do w | ell in this cou | ırse. | | | |
| 10. I pre | fer course n | naterial that a | arouses my c | uriosity, even | if it is difficu | lt to learn. |
| 11. I wo | rk hard to d | o well in clas | ss even if I do | on't like what | we are doing | • |
| 12. If I c | an, I want to | o get better g | rades in this | class than mos | st of the othe | r students. |

MSLQ Scale

Use the scale below to respond to the statements. If you think the statement is very true of you, write a 7; if the statement is not at all true of you, write a 1. If the statement is more or less true of you, find the number between 1 and 7 that best describes you. Please respond to each statement.

Very true

Not at all

readings.

| true of me | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | of me 7 |
|------------|----------------------------------|-----------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------|----------------|
| 13. W | Then course we | ork is difficul | t, I give up o | or only study t | he easy parts. | |
| | want to do wel mily, friends, | | | s important to | show my abi | lity to my |
| | ven when cour | | are dull, and | uninteresting | I manage to | keep |
| | Then I have the arn from even | 11 . | | | rse assignmer | nts that I can |
| | ne most impor erage, so my | | | | | de point |

18. I'm certain I can understand the most difficult material presented in my course

Appendix D: ASI Questionnaire

Some of these items may seem familiar; however, you have not seen these exact items before. Use the scale below to answer each statement. If you strongly agree with the statement, write a 7; if you strongly disagree with the statement, write a 1. If you more or less agree with a statement, find the number between 1 and 7 that best describes you. Please answer each statement.

Strongly

Strongly

| Disagree | | | Neutral | | | Agree |
|----------|---------------------------------|--------------------|---------------------------|----------------|-----------------|-------------|
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | ັ7 |
| | | | | | | |
| 1. | I find I have to learn. | concentrate or | n memorizing a g | good deal of | what we have | re to |
| 2. | I usually set ou read. | t to understand | l thoroughly the | meaning of | what I am as | ked to |
| 3. | I enjoy compet | ition; I find it s | stimulating. | | | |
| 4. | I usually don't | have time to th | nink about the in | nplications o | f what I've r | ead. |
| 5. | Professors seen complicated. | n to delight in | making the simp | ole truth unn | ecessarily | |
| 6. | I generally put seem difficult. | a lot of effort i | nto trying to und | derstand thir | igs which ini | tially |
| 7. | When I'm read | ling I try to me | morize importan | nt facts which | h come in use | eful later. |
| 8. | It is important | to me to do thi | ngs better than n | ny friends. | | |
| 9. | I often find my | self questionin | g things that I he | ear in lecture | es or read in l | books. |
| 10. | Often I find I h them. | ave read things | s without having | a chance to | really under | stand |
| 11. | When I'm tack new information | • | ic, I often ask my er. | yself questic | ons about it w | hich the |

ASI Questionnaire

Some of these items may seem familiar; however, you have not seen these exact items before. Use the scale below to answer each statement. If you strongly agree with the statement, write a 7; if you strongly disagree with the statement, write a 1. If you more or less agree with a statement, find the number between 1 and 7 that best describes you. Please answer each statement.

| 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 | Strongly Disagree | | | Neutral | | | Strongly Agree |
|---------------|----------------------|---|---|---------|---|---|-------------------|
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 |

| 12. | It is | important 1 | to me | to do | really | well ir | i the | courses | here. |
|-----|-------|-------------|-------|-------|--------|---------|-------|---------|-------|
| | | I | | | | | | | |

| 14. I | hate | admitting | defeat. | even | in | trivial | matters. |
|-------|------|-----------|---------|------|----|---------|----------|
| | | | | | | | |

_____13. The best way for me to understand what technical terms mean is to remember text-book definitions.

Appendix E: NC Scale

Indicate how well each statement below applies to you by writing a number from 1 to 9 in the space provided. The more a statement applies to you, the larger the number you would write. For example, if a statement does not apply to you at all, write a 1. If the statement applies to you only moderately, write a 5. If the statement applies very much to you, write a 9. Use 2 to 4 and 6 to 8 for statements that apply to you in different degrees. Please respond to all statements.

Moderately

Extremely

Not at all

| 1. I would prefer complex to simple problems. |
|---|
| 2. I like to have the responsibility of handling a situation that requires a lot of thinking. |
| 3. Thinking is not my idea of fun. |
| 4. I would rather do something that requires little thought than something that is sure to challenge my thinking abilities. |
| 5. I try to anticipate and avoid situations where there is a likely chance I will have to think in depth about something. |
| 6. I find satisfaction in deliberating hard and long hours. |
| 7. I only think as hard as I have to. |
| 8. I prefer to think about small, daily projects to long-term ones. |
| 9. I like tasks that require little thought once I've learned them. |
| 10. The idea of relying on thought to make my way to the top appeals to me. |
| 11. I really enjoy a task that involves coming up with new solutions to problems. |
| 12. Learning new ways to think doesn't excite me very much. |

NC Scale

Indicate how well each statement below applies to you by writing a number from 1 to 9 in the space provided. The more a statement applies to you, the larger the number you would write. For example, if a statement does not apply to you at all, write a 1. If the statement applies to you only moderately, write a 5. If the statement applies very much to you, write a 9. Use 2 to 4 and 6 to 8 for statements that apply to you in different degrees. Please respond to all statements.

Moderately

5

6

7

Not at all

2

personally.

3

4

1

Extremely

8

| 13. I prefer my life to be filled with puzzles that I must solve. |
|---|
| 14. The notion of thinking abstractly is appealing to me. |
| 15. I would prefer a task that is intellectual, difficult, and important to one that is somewhat important but does not require much thought. |
| 16. I feel relief rather than satisfaction after completing a task that required a lot of mental effort. |
| 17. It's enough for me that something gets the job done; I don't care how or why it works. |
| 18. I usually end up deliberating about issues even when they do not affect me |

References

- Adams, L. W. (1991). Relationship of self-efficacy expectations to academic performance and persistence of law students. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 52 (04), 1208. (UMI No. 9125899)
- Alexander, P. A., Schallert, D. L., & Hare, V. C. (1991). Coming to terms: How researchers in learning and literacy talk about knowledge. *Review of Educational Research*, 61, 315-343.
- Anderson, L. M. (1989). Implementing instructional programs to promote meaningful, self-regulated learning. In J. Brophy (Ed.), *Advances in research on teaching* (Vol. 1, pp. 311-341). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Bailey, J. R. (1997). Need for cognition and response mode in the active construction of an information domain. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 18, 69-85.
- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.* Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Self-regulation of motivation and action through internal standards and goal systems. In L. A. Pervin (Ed.), *Goal concepts in personality and social psychology*, (pp. 19-86). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Bandura, A. (1991). Self-regulation of motivation through anticipatory and self-reactive mechanisms. In Dienstbier (Ed.) *Perspectives on motivation: Nebraska Symposium on Motivation, 1990.* (Vol. 38) pp. 69-164. Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press.
- Baxter Magolda, M. B. (1992). *Knowing and reasoning in college: Gender-related patterns in students' intellectual development.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Belenky, M. F., Clinchy, B. M., Goldberger, N. R., & Tarule, J. M. (1986). Women's ways of knowing: The development of self, voice, and mind. USA: Basic Books.
- Bell, P. & Linn, M. C. (2002). Beliefs about science: How doe science instruction contribute? In B. K. Hofer and P. R. Pintrich (Eds.), *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 321-346). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Berry, J., & Sahlberg, P. (1996). Investigating pupils' ideas of learning. *Learning and Instruction*, 6(1), 19-34.

- Berzonsky, M. D., & Sullivan, C. (1992). Social-cognitive aspects of identity style: Need for cognition, experiential openness, and introspection. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 7, 140-155.
- Biggs, J. (1996). Enhancing teaching through constructive alignment. *Higher Education*, 32, 347-364.
- Black, A. (1996). Student perceptions of teaching methods: An analysis of how perceptions can impact upon the learning process. *Journal of Professional Legal Education*, 14, 203-226.
- Bond, C., & Le Brun, M. (1996). Promoting learning in law. *Legal Education Review*, 7, 1-29.
- Braebeck, M. M. (1984). Longitudinal studies of intellectual development during adulthood: Theoretical and research models. *Journal of Research and Development in Education*, 17, 12-27.
- Campbell, B. (1997). Professional legal education, deep learning, and dispute resolution. *Journal of Professional Legal Education*, 15, 1-14.
- Cacioppo, J. T. & Petty, R. E. (1982). The need for cognition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 42, 116-131.
- Cacioppo, J. T. & Petty, R. E., & Kao, C. F. (1984). The efficient assessment of need for cognition. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 48, 306-307.
- Cacioppo, J. R., Petty, R. E., Feinstein, J., & Jarvis, W. (1996). Dispositional differences in cognitive motivation: The life and times of individuals varying in need for cognition. *Psychological Bulletin*, *119*, 197-253.
- Campbell, B. (1997). Professional legal education, deep learning and dispute resolution. *Journal of Professional Legal Education*, 15, 1-13.
- Charney, D., Newman, J. H., & Palmquist, M. (1995). "I'm just no good at writing": Epistemological style and attitudes toward writing. *Written Communication*, *12*, 298-329.
- Corno, L., & Kanfer, R. (1993). The role of volition in learning and performance. In L. Darling-Hammond (Ed.), *Review of research in education, Vol. 19* (pp. 301-341). Washington, D.C.: American Educational Research Association.

- Crowson, R. L. (1987). Qualitative research methods in higher education. In J. C. Smart (Ed.), *Higher education: Handbook of theory and research*, (Vol. 3), New York: Agathon Press.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Csikszentmihalyi, I. S. (1988). *Optimal experience:*Psychological studies of flow in consciousness. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Nakamura, J. (1989). The dynamics of intrinsic motivation. In R. E. Ames & C. Ames (Eds.), *Research on motivation in education: Vol. 3. Goals and cognition* (pp. 45-71). New York: Academic Press.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika*, *16*, 297-334.
- Crowson, R. L. (1987). Qualitative research methods in higher education. In J. C. Smart (Ed.), *Higher Education: Handbook of theory and research*, (Vol. 3). New York: Agathon Press.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1991). A motivational approach to self: integration in personality; *Nebraska symposium on motivation*, (Vol. 38, 237-288). Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press.
- Diaz, R. J., Glass, C. R., Arnkoff, D. B., & Tanofsky-Kraff, M. (2001). Cognition, anxiety, and prediction of performance in 1st-year law students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *93*, 420-429.
- Donald, J. G. (2002). *Learning to think: Disciplinary perspectives*. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Duell, O. K., & Schommer-Aikins, M. (2001). Measures of people's beliefs about knowledge and learning. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13, 419-449.
- Dweck, & Leggett (1988). A social-cognitive approach to motivation and personality. *Psychologist Review*, *95*, 56-73.
- Elias, S.M., & Loomis, R. J. (2002). Utilizing need for cognition and perceived self-efficacy to predict academic performance. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 32, 1687-1702.
- Elen, J., & Clarebout, G. (2001). An invasion in the classroom: Influence of an ill-structured innovation on instructional and epistemological beliefs. *Learning Environments Research*, *4*, 87-105.

- Entwistle, A., & Entwistle, N. (1992). Experiences of understanding in revising for degree examinations. *Learning and Instruction*, 2, 1-22.
- Entwistle, N., & Ramsden, P. (1983). *Understanding student learning*. London: Croom Helm.
- Entwistle, N., & Tait, H. (1990). Approaches to learning, evaluations of teaching, and preferences for contrasting academic environments. *Higher Education*, 19, 169-194.
- Fletcher, F. J. O., Danilovics, P., Fernandez, G., Peterson, D., & Reeder, G. D. (1986). Attributional complexity: An individual difference measure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*, 875-884.
- Garcia, T. (1995). The role of motivational strategies in self-regulated learning. In P.R. Pintrich (Ed.) *Understanding Self-Regulated Learning*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Garner, R. (1990). When children and adults do not use learning strategies: Toward a theory of settings. *Review of Educational Research*, 60, 517-529.
- Hammer, D., & Elby, A. (1992). On the form of a personal epistemology. In B. K. Hofer and P. R. Pintrich (Eds.), Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing (pp. 169-208). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Barron, K. E., Carter, S. M., Lehto, A. T., & Elliot, A. J. (1997).
 Predictors and consequences of achievement goals in the college classroom:
 Maintaining interest and making the grade. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73, 1284-1295.
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Barron, K. E., Tauer, H. M., Carter, S. M., & Elliot, A. J. (2000). Short-term and long-term consequences of achievement goals: Predicting interest and performance over time. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *92*, 316-330.
- Hess, G. F. (1997). Listening to our students: Obstructing and enhancing learning in law school. *University of San Francisco Law Review, 31*, 941-963.
- Heyman, G. D., & Dweck, C. S. (1992). Achievement goals and intrinsic motivation: Their relation and their role in adaptive motivation. *Motivation and Emotion*, *16*, 231-247.
- Hofer, B. K. (2001). Personal epistemology research: Implications for learning and instruction. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13, 353-382.
- Hofer, B. K. (2000). Dimensionality and disciplinary differences in personal epistemology. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *25*, 378-405.

- Hofer, B. K., & Pintrich, P. R. (1997). The development of epistemological theories: Beliefs about knowledge and knowing and their relation to learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 67, 88-140.
- Holt-Reynolds, D. (1992). Personal history-based beliefs as relevant prior knowledge in course work. *American Educational Research Journal*, *29*, 325-349.
- Jehng, J. J., Johnson, S. D., & Anderson, R. C. (1993). Schooling and students' epistemological beliefs about learning. *Contemporary Educational Psychology, 18*, 23-35.
- Kember, D. (1996). The intention to both memorise and understand: Another approach to learning? *Higher Education*, *31*, 341-354.
- Kember, D., & Gow, L. (1994). Orientations to teaching and their effect on the quality of student learning. *Journal of Higher Education*, 65, 58-74.
- Keyes, M., & Orr, G. (1996). Giving theory "a life": First year student conceptions of legal theory. *Legal Education Review*, 7, 31-65.
- King, P. M., & Kitchener, K. S. (1994). Developing reflective judgment: Understanding and promoting intellectual growth and critical thinking in adolescents and adults. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Kitchener, K. S., & King, P. M. (1981). Reflective judgment: Concepts of justification and their relationship to age and education. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *2*, 89-116.
- Kitchener, K. S., & King, P. M. (1990). The reflective judgment model: Ten years of research. In M. L. Commons, C. Armon, L. Kohlberg, F. A. Richards, T. A. Grotzer and J. Sinnott (Eds.), *Adult development: Models and methods in the study of adolescent and adult thought.* (Vol. 2, pp. 63-78). New York: Praeger.
- Kuhl, J. (1985). Volitional mediators of cognition-behavior consistency: Self-regulatory processes and action versus state orientation. In J. Kuhl and J. Beckmann (Eds.), *Action control: From cognition to behavior* (pp. 101-128). New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Law School Admission Council, Inc. (1999). *The official guide to U.S. law schools 2000 Edition*. Times Books.
- Leone, C., & Dalton, C. H. (1988). Some effects of the need for cognition on course grades. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 67, 175-178.

- Martin, J. (1993). Episodic memory: A neglected phenomenon in the psychology of education. *Educational Psychologist*, 28, 169-183.
- Martin, J. E., Silva, D. G., Newman, J. H., & Thayer, J. F. (1994). An investigation into the structure of epistemological style. *Personality & Individual Differences*, 16, 617-629.
- Marton, F., & Säljö, R. (1976). On qualitative differences in learning: Outcome and process. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 46, 4-11.
- Marton, F., & Säljö, R. (1984). Approaches to learning. In F. Marton, D. Hounsell, & N. Entwistle, (Eds.), *The experience of learning* (pp. 36-55). Edinburgh: Scottish Academic Press.
- McDaniel, E. & Lawrence, C. (1990). Levels of cognitive complexity: An approach to the measurement of thinking. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative Data Analysis*. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications.
- Monahan, G. (1993). Student learning and legal education towards the deep end: An examination of student approaches to learning. *Journal of Professional Legal Education*, 11, 265-273.
- Moore, W. S. (1994). Student and faculty epistemology in the college classroom: The Perry schema of intellectual and ethical development. In K. W. Prichard & R. M. Sawyer (Eds.), *Handbook of College Teaching: Theory and Applications* (pp. 45-67). Connecticut: Greenwood Press.
- Munby, H. (1982). The place of teachers' beliefs in research on teacher thinking and decision making, and an alternative methodology. *Instructional Science*, 11, 201-225.
- Nair, K. U. (2000). Individual differences in need for cognition and complex problem solving. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *34*, 305-328.
- Nair, K. U., & Ramnarayan, S. (2000). Individual differences in need for cognition and complex problem solving. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *34*, 305-328.
- Nathanson, S. (1997). Bridging the divide between traditional and professional legal education. *Journal of Professional Legal Education*, 15, 15-30.

- Neber, H., & Schommer-Aikins, M. (2002). Self-regulated science learning with highly gifted students: The role of cognitive, motivational, epistemological, and environmental variables. *High Ability Studies*, 13, 59-74.
- Nespor, J. (1987). The role of beliefs in the practice of teaching. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 19, 317-328.
- Olson, K., Camp, C., & Fuller, D. (1984). Curiosity and need for cognition. *Psychological Reports*, *54*, 71-74.
- Pajares, M. F. (1992). Teachers' beliefs and educational research: Cleaning up a messy construct. *Review of Educational Research*, *62*, 307-332.
- Palmer, B., Marra, R. M., & Moore, W. S. (2001, April). *Making the move: Shifts in college students epistemology in the humanities and sciences*. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Seattle, WA.
- Paulsen, M. B., & Wells, C. T. (1998). Domain differences in the epistemological beliefs of college students. *Research in Higher Education*, *39*, 365-384.
- Perry, W. G. (1970). Forms of intellectual and ethical development in the college years: A scheme. New York: Holt, Reinhart, & Winston.
- Pintrich, P. (1989). The dynamic interplay of student motivation and cognition in the college classroom. In M. Maehr, & C. Ames, (Eds.) *Advances in motivation and achievement: Motivation enhancing environments* (Vol. 6, pp. 117-160). Connecticut: Jai Press.
- Pintrich, P. R. (2002). Future challenges and directions for theory and research on personal epistemology. In B. K. Hofer and P. R. Pintrich (Eds.), *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 389-414). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Pintrich, P. R. & De Groot, E. V. (1990). Motivational and self-regulated learning components of classroom academic performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 33-40.
- Pintrich, P. R., & Garcia, T. (1993). Intraindividual differences in students' motivation and self-regulated learning. *German Journal of Educational Psychology*, 7, 99-107.
- Pintrich, P. P., Smith, D. A. F., Garcia, T. & McKeachie, W. J. (1991). *A Manual for the Use of the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire (MSLQ)*. Ann Arbor, Michigan: National Center for Research to Improve Postsecondary Teaching and Learning.

- Pratt, D. D. (1992). Conceptions of teaching. Adult Education Quarterly, 42, 203-220.
- Qian, G., & Alvermann, D. (1995). Role of epistemological beliefs and learned helplessness in secondary school students' learning science concepts from text. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87, 282-292.
- Rando, W. C., & Menges, R. J. (1991). How practice is shaped by personal theories. *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, 45, 7-14.
- Rigby, C. S., Deci, E. L., Patrick, B., C., & Ryan, R., M. (1992). Beyond the intrinsic-extrinsic dichotomy: Self-determination in motivation and learning. *Motivation and Emotion*, 16, 165-185.
- Rokeach, M. (1968). *Beliefs, attitudes, and values: A theory of organization and change.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Rosenthal, T. L., & Zimmerman, B. J. (1978). *Social learning and cognition*. New York: Academic Press.
- Ryan, M. P. (1984). Monitoring text comprehension: Individual differences in epistemological standards. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76, 248-258.
- Sadowski, C. J. (1996). Elaborative processing mediates the relationship between need for cognition and academic performance. *Journal of Psychology*, *130*, 303-307.
- Sadowski, C. J., & Gulgoz, S. (1992). Internal consistency and test-retest reliability of the Need for Cognition Scale. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 74, 610.
- Sansone, C., & Morgan, C. (1992). Intrinsic motivation and education: Competence in context. *Motivation and Emotion*, *16*, 249-269.
- Saunders, G.L., Cavallo, A.L., & Abraham, M.R. (1999, March). *Relationships among epistemological beliefs, gender, approaches to learning, and implementation of instruction in chemistry laboratory*. Paper presented at the National Association for Research in Science Teaching, Boston, MA.
- Schallert, D. L. (2002). Schema theory. In B. J. Guzzetti, (Ed.), *Literacy in America: An encyclopedia of history, theory, and practice* (pp.556-558). Santa Barbara, California: ABC-CLIO, Inc.
- Schallert, D. L., Harris, C. L., Lissi, M. R., & Turner, J. E. (1997, April). Relating students' epistemological beliefs to participation in whole-class and small-group

- discussion. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL.
- Schoenfeld, A. (1983). Beyond the purely cognitive: Belief systems, social cognitions, and metacognitions as driving forces in intellectual performance. *Cognitive Science*, 7, 329-363.
- Schoenfeld, A. (1985). Mathematical problem solving. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Schommer, M. (1990). Effects of beliefs about the nature of knowledge on comprehension. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 498-504.
- Schommer, M. (1993). Comparison of beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning among postsecondary students. *Research in Higher Education*, 24, 355-370.
- Schommer, M. (1994). An emerging conceptualization of epistemological beliefs and their role in learning. In R. Garner and P. Alexander (Eds.), *Beliefs about text and about text instruction* (pp. 25-39). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Schommer, M. & Walker, K. (1995). Are epistemological beliefs similar across domains? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87, 424-432.
- Schommer, M. & Walker, K. (1997). Epistemological beliefs and valuing school: Considerations for college admissions and retention. *Research in Higher Education*, *38*, 173-186.
- Schommer-Aikins, M. (2002). An evolving theoretical framework for an epistemological belief system. In B. K. Hofer and P. R. Pintrich (Eds.) *Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing* (pp. 103-118). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Schommer-Aikins, M., Duell, O.K., & Barker, S. (2003). Epistemological beliefs across domains using Biglan's classification of academic disciplines. *Research in Higher Education*, 44, 347-366.
- Schraw, G. (2001). Current themes and future directions in epistemological research: A commentary. *Educational Psychology Review, 13*, 451-464.
- Schunk, D. H. (1989). Self-efficacy and cognitive skill learning. In C. Ames and R. Ames (Eds.), *Research on motivation in education: Goals and cognitions*, (Vol. 3, pp. 13-44). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Schunk, D. H. (1990). Goal setting and self-efficacy during self-regulated learning. *Educational Psychologist*, *25*, 71-86.

- Schunk, D. H. (1991). *Learning theories: An educational perspective*. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Schutz, P. A. (1991). Goals in self-directed behavior. *Educational Psychologist 26*, 55-67.
- Shuell, T. J. (1996). Teaching and learning in a classroom context. In D. C. Berliner and R. C. Calfee (Eds.), *Handbook of Educational Psychology* (pp. 726-764). New York: Simon & Schuster Macmillan.
- Snow, Corno, & Jackson, (1996). Individual differences in affective and conative functions. In D. C. Berliner and R. C. Calfee (Eds.), *Handbook of Educational Psychology* (pp. 243-310). New York: Simon & Schuster Macmillan.
- Spiro, R. J., Feltovich, P. J., & Coulson, R. L. (1996). Two epistemic world-views: Prefigurative schemes and learning in complex domains. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 10, 551-561.
- Steup, M. (1996). An Introduction to Contemporary Epistemology. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Turner, J. E., Husman, J., & Schallert, D. L. (2002). The importance of students' goals in their emotional experience of academic failure: Investigating the precursors and consequences of shame. *Educational Psychologist*, *37*, 79-89.
- Turner, J. E., & Schallert, D. L. (2001). Expectancy-value relationships of shame reactions and shame resiliency. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *93*, 320-329.
- Vermetten, V. J., Lodewijks, H. G., & Vermunt, J. D. (1999). Consistency and variability of learning strategies in different university courses. *Higher Education*, *37*, 1-21.
- Wangerin, P. T. (1988). Objective, multiplistic, and relative truth in developmental psychology and legal education. *Tulane Law Review*, 62, 1237-1301.
- Weinstein, C. E., & Mayer, R. (1986). The teaching of learning strategies. In M. Wittrock (Ed.), *Handbook of research on teaching and learning* (pp.315-327). New York: Macmillan.
- Wilkinson, W. K. & Migotsky, C. P. (1994). A factor analytic study of epistemological style inventories. *Journal of Psychology*, 128(5), 499-512.

Zimmerman, B. J., & Martinez-Pons, M. (1990). Student differences in self-regulated learning: Relating grade, sex, and giftedness to self-efficacy and strategy use. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 51-59.

Vita

Cheryl Lorraine Harris was born in El Paso, Texas on November 27, 1961, the daughter of Alton D. Harris, Jr. and Joyce L. Harris. After graduating from Eastwood High School in El Paso, Texas, she entered The University of Texas at El Paso. She completed 60 hours of courses in two years and then transferred to Liberty Baptist College where she received a Bachelor of Science in Educational Ministries in 1984. During the following years, she worked as a secretary for the City of Austin Parks and Recreation Department. From 1986 to 1989 she completed graduate courses in Interpersonal Communication and Child Development and Family Relationships at The University of Texas at Austin. In 1992, she entered the Educational Psychology Department at The University of Texas at Austin to pursue a doctoral degree in Learning, Cognition and Instruction. During her graduate studies she worked for many years as a legal secretary at The University of Texas School of Law. She also taught an undergraduate learning course in the Educational Psychology Department for two years. She is currently employed as a program evaluator for the Southwest Educational Development Laboratory in Austin, Texas.

Permanent Address: 2809 W. William Cannon, Austin, Texas 78745

This dissertation was typed by the author.